
 

CITIZENS OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE  
MEETING AGENDA 

April 21, 2020 – 8:30 AM  
(NOTE TIME CHANGE) 

 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNOR’S EXECUTIVE ORDERS N-25-20 AND N-29-20 THE 

CITIZENS OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE MEETING WILL BE HELD VIRTUALLY 
 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC MAY NOT ATTEND THIS MEETING IN PERSON 

 
 
Zoom Teleconference Instructions 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT DURING THE MEETING: 
The COC Chair will open the floor for public comment during the Public Comment periods 
on the agenda. Please check and test your computer settings so that your audio speaker and 
microphones are functioning.  Speakers are asked to limit their comments to two (2) 
minutes. The amount of time allocated for comments during the meeting may vary at the 
Chairperson’s discretion depending on the number of speakers and length of the agenda 

 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items  

 
3. Review Comprehensive Annual Financial Report – Fiscal Year 2018-19 

 
4. Discussion of SMART’s Budget and Reserves 

 
5. Input on Measure I  

 
6. Input on Citizen’s Oversight Committee Role and Makeup   
 
7 Next Meeting: TBD 
 
8. Adjournment 
 
DISABLED ACCOMMODATION: if you have a disability that requires the agenda materials to be in an alternate format or that requires an 
interpreter or other person to assist you while attending this meeting, please contact SMART at least 72 hours prior to the meeting to 
ensure arrangements for accommodation. Please contact the Clerk of the Board at (707) 794-3072 or dial CRS 711 for more information. 
 
DOCUMENTS: Documents distributed by SMART for its monthly Board meeting or committee meetings, and which are not otherwise 
privileged, may be inspected at SMART’s office located at 5401 Old Redwood Hwy. Suite 200, Petaluma, CA 94954 during regular 
business hours. Documents may also be viewed on SMART’s website at: www.sonomamarintrain.org. Materials related to an item on this 
Agenda submitted to SMART after distribution of the agenda packet are available for public inspection at the SMART Office. 
 
For information about accessing SMART meetings by public transit, use the trip planner at www.511.org 
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         AGENDA ITEM #3 

 
5401 Old Redwood Hwy., Suite 200  Page 1 of 1 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Tel:  707.794.3330/Fax: 707.794.3037 

 
 

 
 

DATE: April 21, 2020 
 
TO: Citizens Oversight Committee Members 
 
FROM:   Erin McGrath, Chief Financial Officer 
  
SUBJECT: Review Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
 
 

  
  
 

Attached are the following report: 
 

1. Staff Report presented to SMART Board of Directors on January 8, 
2020 regarding the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report: Fiscal 
Year 2019 and Memorandum of Internal Control Report  
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MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

To the Board of Directors of 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Petaluma, California 

In planning and performing our audit of the basic financial statements of the Sonoma-Marin Area 
Rail Transit District (SMART or the District) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we 
considered the District’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for 
designing our auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the District’s financial statements will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.   

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses. In addition, because of inherent limitations in internal control, including the 
possibility of management override of controls, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur 
and not be detected by such controls. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, Board of 
Directors, others within the organization, and agencies and pass-through entities requiring 
compliance with Government Auditing Standards, and is not intended to be and should not be 
used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
December 6, 2019 
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REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 

To the Board of Directors of 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Petaluma, California 

We have audited the basic financial statements of the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (District) 
for the year ended June 30, 2019. Professional standards require that we communicate to you the 
following information related to our audit under generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards and the Uniform Guidance.  

Significant Audit Findings 

Accounting Policies 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the District are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. No new 
accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during the year, 
except as follows:  

GASB 83 – Certain Asset Retirement Obligations - This Statement addresses accounting and 
financial reporting for certain asserts retirement obligations (AROs). An ARO is a legally enforceable 
liability associated with the retirement of a tangible capital asset. This Statement requires the current 
value of a government’s AROs to annually be adjusted for the effects of general inflation or deflation, 
and relevant factors that may significantly change the estimated asset retirement outlays. This 
statement also requires disclosure of information about the nature of a government’s AROs, the 
methods and assumptions used for the estimates of the liabilities, and the estimated remaining useful 
life of the associated tangible capital assets.  

This pronouncement became effective, but did not have a material effect on the financial statements.  

GASB 88 – Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct 
Placements - The objective of this Statement is to improve the information that is disclosed in notes 
to government financial statements related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct placements. 
It also clarifies which liabilities governments should include when disclosing information related to 
debt. It requires that additional essential information related to debt be disclosed in notes to financial 
statements, including unused lines of credit; assets pledged as collateral for the debt; and terms 
specified in debt agreements related to significant events of default with finance-related 
consequences, significant termination events with finance-related consequences, and significant 
subjective acceleration clauses.  

This pronouncement became effective, but did not have a material effect on the financial statements. 
See Note 4 for additional information. 
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Unusual Transactions, Controversial or Emerging Areas 

We noted no transactions entered into by the District during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 

Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about 
future events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected.  The most sensitive estimates affecting the District’s financial 
statement were: 

Estimated Fair Value of Investments: As of June 30, 2019, the District held approximately $69.4 
million of cash and investments as measured by fair value as disclosed in Note 2 to the financial 
statements.  Fair value is essentially market pricing in effect as of June 30, 2019.  These fair 
values are not required to be adjusted for changes in general market conditions occurring 
subsequent to June 30, 2019. 

Estimate of Depreciation:  Management’s estimate of the depreciation is based on useful lives 
determined by management.  These lives have been determined by management based on the 
expected useful life of assets as disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.  We evaluated the 
key factors and assumptions used to develop the depreciation estimate and determined that it is 
reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

Estimated Net Pension Liabilities and Pension-Related Deferred Outflows and Inflows of 
Resources:  Management’s estimate of the net pension assets and liabilities and deferred 
outflows/inflows of resources are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements and are based on 
actuarial studies determined by a consultant, which are based on the experience of the District. 
We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimate and determined that it 
is reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

Estimated Net OPEB Liabilities and OPEB-Related Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources: 
Management’s estimate of the net pension assets and liabilities and deferred outflows/inflows of 
resources are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements and are based on actuarial studies 
determined by a consultant, which are based on the experience of the District.  We evaluated the 
key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimate and determined that it is reasonable in 
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

Disclosures 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit. 
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Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management.  We did not propose any audit adjustments that, in our judgment, could have a significant 
effect, either individually or in the aggregate, on the District’s financial reporting process. 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely uncorrected misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management.  We have no such misstatements to report to the Board of Directors. 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 

Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in a management 
representation letter dated December 6, 2019. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves 
application of an accounting principle to the District’s financial statements or a determination of the type 
of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the 
consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our 
knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the District’s auditors.  However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 
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Other Information Accompanying the Financial Statements 

We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information that accompanies and 
supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management 
regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We did not audit the required supplementary information 
and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the required supplementary information.  

We were not engaged to report on the Introductory and Statistical Sections which accompany the financial 
statements, but are not required supplementary information.  Such information has not been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on them.   

****** 
This information is intended solely for the use of Board of Directors and management and is not intended 
to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
December 6, 2019 
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December 6, 2019 

We are pleased to present the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
(CAFR) of the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART or the 
District) for the Fiscal Year July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019.  

This report was prepared in accordance with the guidelines recommended by 
the Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada 
(GFOA) and is in conformance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP). Responsibility of the accuracy, completeness, and fairness 
of the data and clarity of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with 
the management of SMART. To the best of our knowledge, this report is 
complete and accurate in all material respects, and is reported in a manner that 
fairly presents SMART’s financial position.  

We contracted with Maze and Associates to perform the audit of our financial 
statements. The purpose of the independent audit is to offer reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The 
independent auditor’s report can be found at the beginning of the financial 
section of this report.  

GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview 
and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements.  This narrative is 
given in the form of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), 
and is meant to complement this letter of transmittal. The MD&A can be 
found following the independent auditor’s report.   

PROFILE OF THE ORGANIZATION 

SMART is a transit agency created by the State of California to oversee the 
development, implementation and operation of passenger rail service in 
Sonoma and Marin Counties.  Since its creation, the District has been working 
to build both a rail transit system as well as an accompanying multi-use 
pathway.  SMART began passenger service in 2017 on the first 43 miles of a 
transit system that will ultimately connect the 70 miles between Cloverdale in 
Sonoma County to Larkspur in Marin County.  

SMART is governed by a 12-member Board of Directors, made up of two 
county supervisors from each county, three City Council members from each 
county and two representatives from the Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and 
Transportation District. The Board has the authority under State law to own, 
operate, manage, and maintain a passenger rail system within the territory of 
the SMART District. 

Page 21 of 120



SMART is primarily funded by a one-quarter of one cent sales tax approved by voters in the SMART 
District in 2008, a District which includes the two Counties of Sonoma and Marin.  From the start of 
regular passenger service in August of 2017 through its first year, SMART has carried over 1.5 million 
passengers.   

LOCAL AND REGIONAL ECONOMY 

Marin and Sonoma Counties are home to a mix of tourism, recreation, agriculture, and industry.  The 
major population centers of Marin and Sonoma are located along the Highway 101 corridor and the 
parallel SMART rail line.  More than 75% of commuters in the North Bay travel either within or 
between the two counties to get to work.  However, a study by the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission found that motorists in 2017 spent the equivalent of 2,690 vehicle hours of congested 
delay during the morning commute on Highway 101 from Novato to San Rafael.  SMART’s riders are 
no longer stuck in traffic on the freeway or local roads and have been able to reduce their commute 
times and increase their productivity. 

SMART’s finances rely on the strength of sales tax revenues which provides more than 80% of 
SMART’s annual revenues.  Sales tax revenue is directly linked to local employment rates and median 
incomes. The District is home to a fairly wealthy taxpayer base, with a weighted per capita income base 
of $82,087 compared to California’s $63,557 and $54,446 for the United States according to 2018 
reports from the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA). The District’s residents have shown stable 
employment rates through June 30, 2019. The seasonally unadjusted unemployment rates in Marin and 
Sonoma Counties in September of 2018 were 1.9% and 2.2%, respectively.  As a result of these 
underlying statistics, robust sales in the District and some delayed receipt of funds from the State from 
the prior year, sales tax revenues grew by 11%.  For the year that ended June 30, 2019, SMART sales 
tax receipts, net of state fees, was $41,241,140. 

Sonoma County residents suffered devastating wildfires in 2017 that lead to significant dislocation and 
loss of property which had a temporary impact on SMART ridership and revenues.  Both fare revenue 
and ridership have rebounded, however the future effects of power outages and a new fire occurring 
after the close of Fiscal Year 2019 are still unknown. 

DISTRICT ACTIVITIES in Fiscal Year 2018-19 

SMART Rail Service    
SMART passenger service runs from the Downtown San Rafael Station to the Airport Boulevard 
Station and is accompanied by multiple SMART pathway segments. In Fiscal Year 2018-19, SMART 
provided its first full fiscal year of weekday passenger service including 34 trips a day, starting at 4:19 
am and ending at 9:42 pm.  Four weekend service trips start at 10:13 am and conclude at 9:57 pm.  In 
Fiscal Year 2019, SMART carried 716,847 passengers, 69,103 bicycles and 2,388 passengers in 
wheelchairs.  Passenger support has been positive and growing, and on-time performance of SMART 
trains is 97%.   Improvements anticipated in 2020 include a new schedule with more service runs and 
fewer schedule gaps during commute hours. 

Capital Improvement Projects  
In December 2019 SMART will to bring a new 2.1-mile extension from San Rafael to Larkspur into 
service.  This project, which is funded primarily by Regional Measure 2 (Bridge Tolls), the Federal 
Transit Administration, as well as the Federal Railroad Administration, is also supported by SMART’s 
own Measure Q.  SMART also substantially completed construction of a new station in Novato funded 
by the City of Novato.  Both new stations will be opening in December of 2019.  
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A three-mile extension North to Windsor is in the beginning phases of construction. Subsequent phases 
of the project will include additional SMART rail stations in Cloverdale, Healdsburg, and Petaluma; 
and further extensions of the pathway.  All future phases will be completed as funding becomes 
available. Passengers north and south of the Phase 1 project connect to the SMART transit system by 
local transit connections, the multiuse pathway, and SMART-contracted connector buses.  

During Fiscal Year 2018-19 there was continued progress on capital projects in support of operations, 
such as the design and installation of a wheel-truing machine to reduce rail car maintenance costs and 
impacts on service.  Another major initiative was the funding and construction of pedestrian path of 
travel improvements at SMART crossings for enhanced safety at certain at-grade crossings.  SMART 
also began construction of new multi-use pathway segments, including a crucial section in Petaluma 
from Payran to Southpoint Boulevard and a section in Downtown San Rafael.  Finally, the expansion of 
SMART’s rail car fleet moved forward, with SMART receiving four additional Diesel Multiple Unit 
rail cars in time for new service to SMART’s newest stations. 

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Internal Controls 
The District’s financial reporting system and business processes have been designed with an emphasis 
on the importance of strong but reasonable internal financial controls, including the proper recording of 
revenues and expenditures and maintenance of budgetary control for the allocation of available 
resources.  Existing internal controls are monitored and changes are implemented as needed as the 
District grows in size and complexity.  These controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded against waste, fraud, and non-authorized use and the 
District’s financial records can be relied upon to produce financial statements free of any material 
misstatements and in accordance with GAAP.  The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the 
cost of maintaining the system of internal controls should not exceed benefits likely to be derived, and 
that the evaluation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgements by management.  We believe 
that the District’s internal accounting controls achieve that goal.  

Financial Planning 
At the close of Fiscal Year 2019, SMART had begun work on a new Strategic Plan, an effort that 
occurs every five years as a method of planning for future expenditures and needs.  That plan envisions 
an extension of SMART’s primary source for revenue, the 2008 Measure Q sales tax, which is set to 
expire in 2029.  The plan’s focus is on the need to extend the tax to better manage expenditures over the 
long-term, including reducing annual debt service.  SMART’s annual budget process, which takes place 
during the months of May and June, assisted in providing the needed data from SMART’s operating 
costs.  Those costs, combined with SMART’s annual debt service, will prove to be a challenge for the 
District in the coming years.  The budget review and Strategic Plan process resulted ultimately in a 
decision by the Board of Directors to go forward with a ballot measure to extend the sales tax in 2020 
for another 30 years.     

Certificate of Achievement  
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to SMART for its Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. This was the fifth consecutive year that 
SMART has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a 
government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR.  The CAFR must satisfy 
both GAAP and applicable legal requirements. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one 
year only. We believe that our current comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the 
Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements, and are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its 
eligibility for another certificate. 
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CONCLUSION 

The financial statements presented here show the magnitude of the public assets that have resulted from 
the voters’ approval of the SMART sales tax measure in 2008.  Measure Q revenues have made 
possible not only the construction of a world-class transit system, but also the ongoing operation and 
maintenance of that system in the future. With continued leadership from the Board and ongoing 
vigilance on maintaining necessary reserves and planning for future financial challenges, SMART’s 
current and future operations will remain on solid footing.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Board of Directors of the 
  Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Petaluma, California 

Report on Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
(District), California, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the Table of 
Contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the District’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal 
control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
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Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the District as of June 30, 2019, and the respective changes in financial 
position and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. 

Emphasis of Matter  

Management adopted the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 88, 
Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placements, which became 
effective during the year ended June 30, 2019 as discussed in Note 4 to the financial statements. This 
Statement had no material effect on the financial statements.  

The emphasis of this matter does not constitute a modification to our opinions. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and other Required Supplementary Information listed in the Table of Contents 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers 
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements.  The Introductory Section and Statistical 
Section as listed in the Table of Contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not 
required parts of the basic financial statements. 

The Introductory and Statistical Sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 6, 
2019, on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
December 6, 2019 
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Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

 
 
As management of the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART or the District), we offer readers 
of SMART’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of SMART 
for the year ended June 30, 2019.  We encourage readers to combine the information presented here with 
SMART’s basic financial statements and the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.  
 
Fiscal Year 2019 Financial Highlights  
 

 SMART’s financial activity for the year ended June 30, 2019 reflects SMART’s second  year of 
operations activities including fare, parking and other operating revenues and a full year of 
expenses such as fuel, parts and labor for commuter rail operations  

 Fare revenue for the second year was $4.1 million out of the $5 million in Operating Revenue.  This 
exceeded SMART’s budgeted amounts and provided a strong base for future financial planning. 

 Capital assets increased by $25 million due to continued construction activity during the year, and 
depreciation also grew to $19 million as more infrastructure was placed into service. 

 Assets of SMART exceeded its liabilities at the close of the year ended June 30, 2019 by $467.6 
million (net position). Of this amount, $64.3 million is unrestricted. 

 SMART’s net position increased $39 million during the year ended June 30, 2019, due to continued 
investment into capital assets related to both rail and pathway construction. 

 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to SMART’s basic financial statements 
which are comprised of financial statements and the notes to the basic financial statements. SMART 
provides its financial information utilizing business-type or enterprise fund reporting. This type of fund 
reporting is used for funds whose activities are financed with bonds secured solely by a pledge of net 
revenues from fees or charges of the activity and for which fees are designed to recover costs, as a matter 
of policy. These requirements apply to SMART and, furthermore, enterprise fund accounting is employed 
by most government transit districts.  
 
Basic Financial Statements 
 
The financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of SMART’s finances, in 
a manner similar to a private-sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of SMART’s assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities and deferred inflow of resources, with the difference between the four reported as net 
position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the 
financial position of SMART is improving or deteriorating. 
  
The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position presents information showing how 
SMART’s net position changed during the fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as 
the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, 
revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in 
future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected rental revenue and earned but unused vacation leave).   
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Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the financial statements.  The notes can be found on pages 15-33 of 
this report. 

Analysis of the Financial Statements 

The financial statements provide both short-term and long-term information about the District’s overall 
financial condition. This analysis addresses the financial statements of the District as a whole. As noted 
earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. 
SMART’s net position was $467,564,606 on June 30, 2019. 

The largest portion of SMART’s net position (86%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 
tracks and crossings, pathway, bridges and tunnels). SMART uses these capital assets to provide passenger 
rail services to its customers and a multiuse pathway for the general public; consequently, these assets are 
not available for future spending. 

Statement of Net Position 

 

SMART’s net position at the end of fiscal year 2019 increased by $39,383,872 from the prior fiscal year. 
This increase is primarily the result of SMART continuing to invest its revenues and grants into capital 
assets which in the past year included  train systems, stations, railcars, and the multi-use pathway.    Current 
and other assets at June 30, 2019, increased by $5,067,234.  The increase was primarily due to increased 
sales tax revenue and increased revenue from property transactions.  Current liabilities increased from 
$22,591,996 on June 30, 2018 to  $23,905,407 on June 30, 2019, which was primarly due to increased 
payables at year-end related to SMART’s capital asset construction activity. 

2019 2018

2019‐2018 

Change
Current and Other Assets  $        97,455,509    92,388,275   $    5,067,234 
Capital assets          543,330,649    518,274,187   25,056,462 

Total Assets  640,786,158    610,662,462   30,123,696 

Deferred outflows of resources   2,126,418   2,164,639   (38,221)

Current liabilities  23,905,407    22,591,996    1,313,411 
Long‐term liabilities  151,182,451    161,793,710   (10,611,259)

Total Liabilities  175,087,858    184,385,706   (9,297,848)

Deferred inflows of resources  260,112    260,661   (549)

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets  403,239,649    367,957,650   35,281,999 
Unrestricted  64,324,957    60,223,084    4,101,873 

Total net position  $      467,564,606    428,180,734   $    39,383,872 
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Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
 

 
 

 
Fiscal Year 2019 Revenues 
 

 SMART revenues consist of operating revenues of $5,036,875 and non-operating revenues less 
expenses of $46,028,832 -- which is comprised of sales tax receipts and state operating assistance.  
Sales tax, SMART’s single largest ongoing source of revenue, grew a robust 11% (net of fees) over 
the previous year, although due to the backlog in processing at the State some of that growth can 
be contributed to the prior year. This growth provides a strong base for SMART’s long-term 
projections in its future financial planning processes. 

 Capital grants of $37,345,323 are $12,403,864 higher than the year ended June 30, 2018. These are 
related to construction of the Larkspur extension, the new Novato Downtown Station, new multiuse 
pathways, operations facility improvements and rail car payments. 

 Miscellaneous revenue increased by $1,937,946 due to property transactions in Santa Rosa and 
Marin. 

2019 2018

2019‐2018 

Change

Operating Revenues:

Fares and other revenues  $             5,036,875   $           4,025,111   $       1,011,764 

Total Operating Revenues 5,036,875  4,025,111  1,011,764 

Operating Expenses

  Public transporation ‐ rail/pathway development:

Salaries and Employee benefits (non‐capital) 18,453,125  16,950,114  1,503,011 

Services and supplies 11,336,573  8,877,465  2,459,108 

Depreciation 19,033,577  17,800,126  1,233,451 

Loss on Impairment of assets 0  671,378  (671,378)

Other charges 203,883  954  202,929 

Total Operating Expenses 49,027,158  44,300,037  4,727,121 

Operating (Loss) (43,990,283) (40,274,926) 3,715,357 

Non‐Operating Revenues (Less Expenses)

Sales/Use taxes 41,241,140  37,135,476  4,105,664 

State operating assistance 5,000,756  3,701,366  1,299,390 

Investment earnings 1,974,246  724,313  1,249,933 

Miscellaneous revenue 4,174,454  2,236,508  1,937,946 

Capital expenses passed through to other agencies (770,156) (3,778,891) 3,008,735 

Interest expense (5,591,608) (5,819,778) 228,170 

Total Non‐Operating Revenues (Net): 46,028,832  34,198,994  11,829,838 

Capital Grants  37,345,323  24,941,459  12,403,864 

Change in Net Position 39,383,872  18,865,527  20,518,345 

Net Position, beginning of year as previously reported 428,180,734  409,315,207  18,865,527 

Net Position, end of year   $        467,564,606   $      428,180,734   $    39,383,872 
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Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

 
 

Fiscal Year 2019 Expenses  
 

 SMART had operating expenses of $49,027,158, tied to salaries, benefits, other services and 
supplies. This also includes $19,033,577 in depreciation expense. 

 Salaries and benefits increased over the year ended June 30, 2018, by $1,503,011, due to increase 
in operating staffing costs.  

 Services and supplies increased over the year ended June 30, 2018 by $2,459,108, due to a full year 
of passenger service expenses. 

 Other charges of $203,883, an increase over the prior year of $202,929 are from reimbursements 
related to legal settlements. 

 
 
Capital Assets 
 
SMART’s capital assets, as of June 30, 2019 are $543,330,649 (net of accumulated depreciation)  which is 
an increase of $25,056,461 over June 30, 2018. Assets grew in conjunction with continued construction of 
the rail and pathway and acquisition of rail cars.  SMART  assets include  land, construction in progress, 
infrastructure (tracks/rails, crossings, bridges, fencing, tunnels, road crossings and pathway improvements), 
buildings and improvements, and equipment.      
 

Capital Assets 
 

 
 
Additional information on SMART’s capital assets can be found in Note 3 of the notes to the basic financial 
statements. 
 
 
 
Debt  
 
SMART had $157,163,502 in bonds outstanding and unamortized bond premium at June 30, 2019 
compared to $167,528,327 on June 30, 2018.  Additional information on SMART’s long-term debt can be 
found in Note 4. 
 
 
 
 

2019 2018

2019 ‐ 2018

Change

Land $ 43,532,414               $ 43,518,988               $ 13,426                      

Intangible Assets (Non‐Amortizable) 20,770                       20,770                       ‐                             

Infrastructure 428,720,262            428,606,660            113,601                    

Revenue Vehicles 42,833,647               42,833,647               ‐                             

Buildings and improvements 24,868,302               24,868,302               ‐                             

Construction in progress 65,324,720               22,306,954               43,017,766              

Equipment 3,535,151                 2,589,906                 945,245                    

Intangible Assets   387,672                     387,672                     ‐                             

Accumulated depreciation (65,892,288)             (46,858,710)             (19,033,578)            

Total capital assets, net of depreciation $ 543,330,649            $ 518,274,188            $ 25,056,461              
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Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

Economic and Other Factors 
 
Economy 
 
SMART transit operations rely directly on the strength of its designated Measure Q sales and use tax 
receipts.  The strength of this revenue source is dependent on the economic health of the two counties of 
the SMART District, particularly employment rates and job growth.  As discussed in the Introductory 
Section in more detail, the economy of the District grew during the fiscal year and exhibited healthy trends 
in employment and other key factors.  The District recently contracted with Beacon Economics to evaluate 
the economic heath of the District and project future sales tax revenues, which provides the majority of 
funding for SMART operations.  Beacon’s report, available on SMART’s website, found that the outlook 
for the local economy in the short run called for steady growth, with nothing on the immediate horizon that 
would signal a reversal of positive trends.  They projected average growth in sales tax of 3.22% from Fiscal 
Year 2021-2024. While the threat of wildfires continues to affect communities in the region, sales tax 
revenue for the District has not been affected negatively by those pressures.     
 
 
Other Factors 
 
SMART continues to hold multi-year contracts with several independent contractors for the Larkspur 
extension project, for final Phase 1 construction expenses, for four new passenger train cars, and the new 
Windsor extension project.  Most of these projects are grant-funded in nature and do not rely on sales tax 
or SMART’s other revenue sources.   At June 30, 2019, SMART’s total outstanding commitments under 
these and other construction-related contracts were approximately $38.8 million.   
 
 
Request for Additional Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of SMART’s finances.  Questions 
concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information 
should be addressed to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District, Chief Financial Officer, 5401 Old 
Redwood Highway, Suite 200, Petaluma, CA 94954. 
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ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $45,845,925
Restricted cash, cash equivalents, and investments with trustee (Note 2) 23,603,697
Due from other governments 12,445,500
Other receivables 9,535,860
Deposits with others 1,673,951
Inventory 2,962,805
Prepaid expenses 1,387,771

Total current assets 97,455,509

Noncurrent Assets

Capital assets (Note 3):
Non-depreciable:

Land 43,532,414
Construction in progress 65,324,720
Intangible assets 20,770

Depreciable (net of accumulated depreciation):
Infrastructure 370,742,113
Buildings and improvements 21,633,687
Equipment and vehicles 1,794,606
Revenue vehicles 39,978,070
Intangible assets 304,269

Total capital assets, net 543,330,649

Total noncurrent assets 543,330,649

Total Assets 640,786,158

Pension related (Note 5) 2,125,397
OPEB related (Note 6) 1,021

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 2,126,418

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and other current liabilities 10,851,883
Unearned revenue 451,627
Interest payable 2,437,533
Compensated absences - due within one year (Note 1H) 729,364
Long-term debt - due within one year (Note 4) 9,435,000

Total current liabilities 23,905,407

Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated absences (Note 1H) 546,713
Net post-employment benefits liability (Note 6) 1,995,296
Net pension liability (Note 5) 870,893
Long-term debt (Note 4) 147,728,502
Other noncurrent liabilities 41,047

Total noncurrent liabilities 151,182,451

Total Liabilities 175,087,858

Pension related (Note 5) 35,771
OPEB related (Note 6) 224,341

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 260,112

NET POSITION (Note 1L)

Net investment in capital assets 403,239,649
Unrestricted 64,324,957

Total Net Position $467,564,606

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2019

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES
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SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

OPERATING REVENUES

Fare revenues $4,094,540
Other operating revenues 942,335

Total operating revenues 5,036,875

OPERATING EXPENSES

Public transportation - rail/pathway development:
Salaries and employee benefits 19,370,737
Capitalized employee costs (917,612)
Services and supplies 11,336,573
Depreciation (Note 3) 19,033,577
Other charges 203,883

Total program operating expenses 49,027,158

Operating loss (43,990,283)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Sales/Use taxes 41,241,140
State operating assistance 5,000,756
Investment earnings 1,974,246
Miscellaneous revenue 4,174,454
Capital expense passed through to other agencies (770,156)
Interest expense (5,591,608)

Total non-operating revenues, net 46,028,832

Income before capital grants and contributions 2,038,549

CAPITAL GRANTS

State of California 2,883,980
Metropolitan Transportation Commission 4,388,830
Sonoma County Transportation Authority- Measure M 55,249
Federal 21,270,383
Other governmental agencies 8,746,881

Total capital grants 37,345,323

Change in net position 39,383,872

NET POSITION

Beginning of Year 428,180,734

End of Year $467,564,606

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers $4,094,540
Receipts from others 1,192,911
Payments to suppliers for goods and services (10,913,707)
Payments to and on behalf of employees (17,926,790)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (23,553,046)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income received 1,889,662

Net cash provided by investing activities 1,889,662

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Sales tax received 39,192,458
State operating assistance 5,028,743

Net cash provided by noncapital and financing activities 44,221,201

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of capital assets (43,886,802)
Labor costs related to capital projects (917,612)
Capital grants received restricted for capital purposes 37,503,338
Cash paid on projects on behalf of other governments (770,156)
Cash receipts for third party infrastructure 4,178,919
Principal payments on long-term debt (8,365,000)
Interest paid on capital debt (7,730,850)

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities (19,988,163)

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,569,654

CASH AND INVESTMENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 66,879,968

CASH AND INVESTMENTS AT END OF YEAR $69,449,622

RECONCILIATION TO STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Cash and Cash Equivalents $45,845,925
Restricted cash, cash equivalents, and investments with trustee 23,603,697

Total cash and cash equivalents $69,449,622

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH
PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING  ACTIVITIES:
Operating loss ($43,990,283)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash 

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 19,033,577
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Prepaid expenses (86,517)
Accounts receivable 250,576
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 713,266
Compensated absences 91,427
Net post-employment benefits obligation 466,509
Net pension liability and related deferred outflow/inflow of resources (31,601)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities ($23,553,046)

NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Amortization of premiums $1,999,825
Inventory (177,237)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
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SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. General 
 

The Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART or the District) was formed in January 
2003 by provisions of the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District Act, as successor to the 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Commission and the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Authority 
in the California Counties of Sonoma and Marin. Its purpose, as defined by the State, is to 
provide for a unified, comprehensive institutional structure for the ownership and governance of a 
passenger rail system within the Counties of Sonoma and Marin that shall operate in concert with 
existing freight service that operates upon the same rail line and serves the Counties of Humboldt, 
Marin, Mendocino, Napa and Sonoma. The District also owns and is constructing additional 
portions of a multiuse non-motorized pathway within its right-of-way.  
 
SMART is governed by a 12-member Board of Directors consisting of two supervisors each from 
the counties of Marin and Sonoma, two members from the Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and 
Transportation District, and six members representing jurisdictions within the SMART District. 
 

B. Fund Accounting 
 

SMART uses a proprietary (enterprise) fund to account for its activities. An enterprise fund may 
be used to report any activity for which a fee is charged to external users for goods or services. 
Enterprise funds are required for any activity whose principal external revenue sources meet any 
of the following criteria: (1) issued debt is backed solely by fees and charges, (2) the cost of 
providing services for any activity (including capital costs such as depreciation or debt service) 
must be legally recovered through fees or charges, or (3) if the government’s policy is to establish 
activity fees or charges designed to recover the cost of providing services. 

 
C. Basis of Accounting 
 

The District's financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting. All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of the 
District are included on the statement of net position. Revenues are recorded when earned and 
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 
Sales taxes are recorded when earned and reported as non-operating revenue. Grants and similar 
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider 
have been met. 

 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating from nonoperating revenues and expenses. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering 
goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal 
operating revenues of the District are charges for services. Operating expenses for the District 
include expenses relating to the operating and maintaining passenger railway as well as 
administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not 
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
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SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

D. Cash Equivalents

The District considers highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents. The District’s cash and investments in the Sonoma County
Treasury Pool (Treasury Pool) are, in substance, demand deposits and are considered cash
equivalents.

E. Investments

SMART measures its investments at fair value and categorizes its fair value measurements within
the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is a market-based measurement,
using observable market transactions or available market information.

F. Restricted Cash and Investments with Trustee

Assets whose use is restricted to specific purposes by bond indenture or otherwise are segregated
on the statement of net position. These assets are primarily restricted for direct project-related
expenses and debt service purposes. Bond interest and redemption represent funds accumulated
for debt service payments due in the next twelve months and reserve funds set aside to make up
potential future deficiencies. A bond trustee holds these funds.

G. Receivables

Receivables consist of amounts owed to SMART by other governmental agencies and the public.
Amounts due from other governments are considered fully collectible. Accounts receivable from
the public include reimbursements from other entities for services provided or for use of SMART
owned assets. An allowance for doubtful accounts receivable is established when, based upon a
review of outstanding accounts and the failure of all collection efforts, management determines
that collection may not occur.

H. Compensated Absences

It is SMART’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick
pay benefits. All vacation pay reported in the basic financial statements is accrued when earned.
Twenty-five percent of sick leave is payable on termination and is accrued as it is earned.

Employee liabilities as of June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Beginning Balance $1,184,650

Additions (637,937)

Payments (729,364)

Ending Balance $1,276,077

Current Portion $729,364
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SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

I. Risk Management 
 

SMART is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which SMART carries commercial 
insurance, including, but not limited to, comprehensive railroad liability and other relevant 
liability policies, automobile, employment and workers compensation policies. In addition, 
SMART has policies and procedures that ensure appropriate insurance coverage and risk 
procedures for third-party service providers doing work on behalf of the agency. SMART did not 
settle any claims that exceeded SMART’s insurance coverage during the past three years, nor did 
it reduce its insurance coverage from the prior year. 

 
J. Use of Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

K. Deferred Inflow/Outflow of Resources 
 
In additional to assets, the statement of net position reports a separate section for deferred outflows 
of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an 
outflow of resources (expenses) until then. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position reports a separate section for deferred inflows 
of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an 
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an 
inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. 
 

L.  Net Position 
 

Net Position is classified into two components: 1) net investment in capital assets and 2) 
unrestricted. These classifications are defined as follows: 
 

 Net investment in capital assets – This component of net position consists of capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and is reduced by outstanding debt related to 
financing the acquisition of capital assets. Deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of the 
capital assets or related debt are included in this component of net position. 

 
 Unrestricted – This component of net position consists of resources that do not meet the 

definitions of “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.” 
 
SMART applies restricted resources first when expenses are incurred for purposes for which both 
restricted and unrestricted resources are available. 
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SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

M.     Fair Value Measurements 
 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The District 
categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles.  The fair value hierarchy categorizes the inputs to valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value into three levels based on the extent to which inputs used in 
measuring fair value are observable in the market.   
 

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. 
 
Level 2 inputs are inputs – other than quoted prices included within level 1 – that are 
observable for an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability. 
   

If the fair value of an asset or liability is measured using inputs from more than one level of the fair 
value hierarchy, the measurement is considered to be based on the lowest priority level input that is 
significant to the entire measurement. 
 

N. Implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Pronouncements 
 

GASB 88 - Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct 
Placements – The objective of this Statement is to improve the information that is disclosed in 
notes to government financial statements related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct 
placements. It also clarifies which liabilities governments should include when disclosing 
information related to debt. It requires that additional essential information related to debt be 
disclosed in notes to financial statements, including unused lines of credit; assets pledged as 
collateral for the debt; and terms specified in debt agreements related to significant events of default 
with finance-related consequences, significant termination events with finance-related 
consequences, and significant subjective acceleration clauses. This Statement is effective for 
SMART’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.  See Note 4 for relevant disclosures. 
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SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 

Cash, cash equivalents, and investments are carried at fair value and are categorized as follows at 
June 30, 2019: 
 

Available for Held by

Operations Trustee Total

Cash equivalent:

Sonoma County Treasury Pool $29,287,942 $23,603,697 $52,891,639
Deposits 16,557,983    16,557,983       

         Total Cash and Investments $45,845,925 $23,603,697 $69,449,622
 

 
A. Investments Authorized by the District’s Investment Policy 
 

SMART’s pooled cash and investments in the Treasury Pool are invested pursuant to investment 
policy guidelines established by the Sonoma County Treasurer and approved by the Sonoma 
County Board of Supervisors. The objectives of the policy are, in order of priority: safety of 
capital, liquidity, and yield. The policy addresses the soundness of financial institutions in which 
Sonoma County will deposit funds, types of investment instruments as permitted by the 
California Government Code 53601, and the percentage of the portfolio that may be invested in 
certain instruments with longer terms to maturity. 
 
A copy of the Sonoma County investment policy is available upon request from the Sonoma 
County Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax-Collector’s Office at 585 Fiscal Drive, Room 100, 
Santa Rosa, California, 95403. 
 

B. Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements 
 

The District must maintain required amounts of cash and investments with fiscal agents under the 
terms of certain debt issues. These funds are unexpended bond proceeds. The California 
Government Code requires these funds to be invested in accordance with SMART’s Policy, bond 
indentures or State statute. The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for 
investments held by fiscal agents. The table also identifies certain provisions of these debt 
agreements:  

Maximum
Maximum Minimum Credit Percentage of Maximum Investment

Authorized Investment Type Maturity Quality Portfolio In One Issuer

Certificates of Deposit 360 days A-1/ P-1 None None
Bankers Acceptances 360 days A-1/ P-1 None None
Commercial Paper 270 days A-1 None None
Money Market Mutual Funds N/A AAAm None None
Repurchase Agreements N/A N/A None None
Reverse Repurchase Agreements N/A N/A None None
Municipal Obligations N/A N/A None None
General Obligations of States N/A A 2/A None None
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) N/A N/A None None
Shares in a common law trust N/A N/A None None
County Pooled Investment N/A N/A None None
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SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 

C. Interest Rate Risk  
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the fair 
value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the 
sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. As a means of limiting its exposure 
to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates, one of the ways that the Treasury Pool 
manages its exposure is by purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer term 
investments, and by timing cash flows from maturities so that a portion of the portfolio is 
maturing or coming close to maturing evenly over time as necessary to provide the liquidity 
needed for operations.  

 
D. Credit Risk  
 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the 
holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally 
recognized statistical rating organization. The Treasury Pool does not have a rating provided by a 
nationally recognized statistical rating organization. 
 

E. Custodial Credit Risk 
 

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to 
recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk 
for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a transaction, a 
government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are 
in the possession of another party. The California Government Code and the Treasury Pool’s 
investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to 
custodial credit risk for deposits or investments, other than the following provision for deposits 
and securities lending transactions: 

 
 The California Government Code requires that a financial institution secure deposits made 

by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool 
held by depository regulated under state law. The fair value of the pledged securities in the 
collateral pool must equal at least 110% of the total amount deposited by the public 
agencies. California law also allows financial institutions to secure SMART deposits by 
pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the secured public 
deposits. SMART’s cash deposits at the Bank of Marin are secured by at least 110% 
government issued securities. 

 
 The California Government Code limits the total of all securities lending transactions to 

20% of the fair value of the investment portfolio.  
 
With respect to investments, custodial credit risk generally applies only to direct investments in 
marketable securities. Custodial credit risk does not apply to a local government’s indirect 
investment in securities through the use of mutual funds or government investment pools (such as 
the Treasury Pool). 
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SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 

F. Concentration of Credit Risk   
 

SMART’s Investment Policy contains no limitations on the amount that can be invested in any 
one issuer beyond that stipulated by the California Government Code. SMART was invested in 
the Treasury Pool and the Bank of Marin at June 30, 2019. For a listing of investments in any one 
issuer (other than U.S. Treasury securities, mutual funds, or external investment pools) that 
represent 5% or more of total Treasury Pool, refer to the 2019 Sonoma County Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report. 

 
G. Fair Value Hierarchy 

 
The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 
measure fair value of the assets.  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in an active market for identical 
assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are significant 
unobservable inputs. 
 
The District only invests in the Sonoma County Treasury Pool which is exempt from the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 

NOTE 3 - CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

Capital assets are recorded at historical cost or at estimated historical cost if actual historical cost 
is not available. Donated capital assets are recorded at their acquisition value at the date of 
donation. Capital assets include land, construction in progress, infrastructure (tracks & rails, 
switches, fencing, tunnels, bridges, and road crossings), buildings and improvements, and 
equipment. It is SMART’s policy to capitalize qualifying machinery and equipment with an 
initial cost of more than $5,000, land and buildings with an initial cost of more than $25,000, 
infrastructure and intangible assets with an initial cost of more than $100,000, and an estimated 
useful life in excess of one year. 

 
Infrastructure and buildings and improvements are being depreciated using the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives of 20 to 99 years. Equipment is depreciated using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 5 years. Computer equipment, which on 
the financial statements is included in equipment, is being depreciated using the straight-line 
method over 5 years based on commonly used governmental computer technology standards. 

 
Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations when incurred. Betterments and major 
improvements which significantly increase values, change capacities or extend useful lives are 
capitalized. 
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NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTE 3 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 
 Capital assets comprised the following at June 30, 2019: 
 

 
 
SMART recognized $19 million in depreciation expense for assets previously placed in service. 
 

NOTE 4 – LONG TERM DEBT 
 

In December 2011, the District issued $190,145,000 in variable rate Measure Q Sales Tax 
Revenue Bonds Series 2011A (Initial Series 2011A Bonds). The Initial Series 2011A Bonds had 
an initial term of 1% until January 10, 2013. Although the Initial Series 2011A Bonds had a 
maturity date of March 1, 2029, they had certain provisions that allowed SMART to remarket 
them. In May 2012, SMART successfully remarketed the Initial Series 2011A Bonds and raised 
$199,172,032 (Remarketed Series 2011A Bonds). The Remarketed Series 2011A Bonds were 
issued to finance the construction of the initial phase of a passenger rail system and adjacent 
multi-use pathway from Santa Rosa, California to San Rafael, California. The fixed rate 
Remarketed Series 2011A Bonds will bear interest between 2-5% and mature by March 1, 2029. 

 
  

Balance 
June 30, 2018 Additions Transfers

Balance 
June 30, 2019

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $43,518,988 $13,426 $43,532,414
Intangible assets 20,770 20,770
Construction in progress 22,306,954 $44,090,039 (1,072,273) 65,324,720

Total capital assets not being depreciated 65,846,712 44,090,039 (1,058,847) 108,877,904

Capital assets being depreciated:
Infrastructure 428,606,660 113,602 428,720,262
Buildings and improvements 24,868,302 24,868,302
Equipment and vehicles 2,589,906 945,245 3,535,151
Revenue vehicles 42,833,647 42,833,647
Intangible assets 387,672 387,672

Total capital assets being depreciated 499,286,187 1,058,847 500,345,034

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Infrastructure (41,542,100) (16,436,049) (57,978,149)
Buildings and improvements (2,583,666) (650,949) (3,234,615)
Equipment (1,275,615) (464,930) (1,740,545)
Revenue vehicles (1,427,789) (1,427,788) (2,855,577)
Intangible assets (29,542) (53,861) (83,403)

Total accumulated depreciation (46,858,712) (19,033,577) (65,892,289)

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 452,427,475 (19,033,577) 1,058,847 434,452,745

Capital assets, net $518,274,187 $25,056,462 $543,330,649
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NOTE 4 – LONG TERM DEBT (Continued) 

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2019 was as follows: 

The total projected Measure Q Sales Tax revenue, as reported in the 2014 Measure Q Strategic 
Plan, is expected to approximate $756.6 million over the 20 year life of the tax, which is 
sufficient to repay the estimated debt service, including interest. The Measure Q Sales Tax 
revenue recognized during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 was $41,241,140 whereas debt 
service on the Measure Q bonds was $16,095,850 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. 

The following table presents the District’s aggregate annual amount of principal and interest 
payments required to amortize the outstanding debt as of June 30, 2019: 

For The Year
 Ending June 30 Principal Interest

2020 9,435,000 7,312,600
2021 10,565,000 6,840,850
2022 11,745,000 6,315,000
2023 12,990,000 5,727,750

2024 - 2028 85,855,000 17,543,750
2029 15,710,000 785,500

146,300,000 $44,525,450

Plus: Unamortized Bond 
Premium 10,863,502

$157,163,502

If an event of default shall occur and be continuing, SMART shall immediately transfer to the 
Trustee all revenue held by it and the Trustee shall apply all revenue and any other funds then 
held or thereafter received by the Trustee under any of the provisions of the indenture to protect 
the interests of the Holders of the Bonds. 

Original Amount
Issue Balance Balance due within

Amount June 30, 2018 Retirements June 30, 2019 one year

Bonds Payable:
Remarketed Series 2011A

2.00-5.00%, due 3/1/2029 $170,725,000 $154,665,000 $8,365,000 $146,300,000 $9,435,000
Unamortized bond premium 19,371,688 12,863,327 1,999,825 10,863,502

Total long-term debt, net $167,528,327 $10,364,825 $157,163,502 $9,435,000
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NOTE 5 – PENSION PLANS 
 

A. General Information about the Pension Plans 
 

SMART has contracts with the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) for 
purposes of providing a defined pension benefit plan for its employees, defined by CalPERS as 
the “Miscellaneous Plan.” SMART currently has different pension tiers, depending on an 
employee’s hire date. For all employees hired before June 1, 2012, SMART is part of CalPERS 
cost-sharing multiple-employer plan known as the “Miscellaneous 2.0% at 55 Risk Pool” 
whereby the benefit obligations are pooled. There are two tiers of employee within this pool. The 
CalPERS reporting system does not track Tier 2, which contains three employees, separately. 
Therefore the liability for this tier is tracked under the Miscellaneous 2.0% at 55 Risk Pool. For 
employees hired on June 1, 2012, and through December 31, 2012, SMART is part of the 
“Miscellaneous 2% at 60 Risk Pool.” As of January 2013, all new employees were subject to 
California’s Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA), which mandates a 
“Miscellaneous 2% at 62 Plan.” In December 2016, SMART approved a contract with CalPERS 
for the creation of a new Safety 2.7% at 57 Plan.  SMART has only one full-time position eligible 
for this Tier.  For each pool, an actuarial valuation is performed covering all participants, all 
employers contribute at the same rate, and all plan assets are available to pay plan benefits 
pertaining to the employees and retirees of any employer. 

 
Plan Descriptions – All full-time and certain other qualifying employees of the District are 
eligible to participate in CalPERS, a cost-sharing multiple-employer Miscellaneous or Safety plan 
(the Plans). CalPERS acts as a common investment and administrative agent for various local and 
state governmental agencies within the State of California. CalPERS provides retirement, 
disability, and death benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age and final 
compensation. Employees vest after five years of service. Benefit provisions and other 
requirements are established by State statute and by District resolution. 
 
Benefits Provided – Through CalPERS, SMART provides service retirement and disability 
benefits, annual cost of living adjustments and death benefits to plan members, who must be 
public employees, and beneficiaries. Benefits are based on years of credited service, equal to one 
year of full time employment. Members with five years of total service are eligible to retire at age 
50 with statutorily reduced benefits. The death benefit provided by SMART is the 1959 Survivor 
Benefit. The cost of living adjustments for the plan are applied as specified by the Public 
Employees’ Retirement Law. 
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NOTE 5 – PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

 
The Plans’ provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2019, are summarized as follows: 
 

Tier I Tier II Tier III PEPRA

Hire date

Prior to                
September 1, 2011

On or after                
September 1, 2011

On or after
June 2, 2012

On or after                
January 1, 2013

Benefit formula 2% @ 55 2% @ 55 2% @ 60 2% @ 62

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service 5 years service 5 years service

Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life monthly for life monthly for life

Retirement age 55 55 60 62

1.426%-2.418% 1.426%-2.418% 1.092%-2.418% 1.000%-2.500%

Required employee contribution rates 7%* 7% 7% 6.25%

Required employer contribution rates 8.892% 8.892% 7.634% 6.842%

*SMART pays employee share

Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation

Miscellaneous

 
Safety
PEPRA

Hire date

On or after             
January 1, 2013

Benefit formula 2.7% @ 57

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service

Benefit payments monthly for life

Retirement age 50

2.0%-2.7%

Required employee contribution rates 11.5%

Required employer contribution rates 12.141%

Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation

 
 

Contributions – The Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law 
requires that the employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual 
basis by the actuary and shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. 
Funding contributions for the Plan are determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by 
CalPERS. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs 
of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any 
unfunded accrued liability. The District is required to contribute the difference between the 
actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2019, the contributions recognized as part of pension expense for the 
Plans were as follows: 
 

Safety Miscellaneous

Contributions - employer $23,680 $910,518
 

  

Page 53 of 120



SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

NOTE 5 – PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
B. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to 

Pensions 
 

As of June 30, 2019, the District reported net pension liabilities for its proportionate shares of the 
net pension liability of the Plan as follows: 
 

Proportionate Share

of Net Pension Liability
Miscellaneous Plans $870,184
Safety Plans 709                                   

$870,893
 

 
The District’s net pension liability is measured as the proportionate share of the net pension 
liability of the cost-sharing plan. The net pension liability of each of the Plan is measured as of 
June 30, 2018, and the total pension liability for each of the Plan used to calculate the net pension 
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2017 rolled forward to June 30, 
2018 using standard update procedures. The District’s proportion of the net pension liability was 
actuarially determined at the valuation date. 

 
The District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan as of June 30, 2017 and 
2018 was as follows: 

Miscellaneous
Proportion - June 30, 2017 0.02376%
Proportion - June 30, 2018 0.02309%
Change - Increase (Decrease) -0.00067%

Safety
Proportion - June 30, 2017 0.00000%
Proportion - June 30, 2018 0.00001%
Change - Increase (Decrease) 0.00001%  

 
For the year ended June 30, 2019, the District recognized a pension expense of $726,205.  
 
At June 30, 2019, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to the Miscellaneous Plan from the following sources: 
 

 

Miscellaneous
Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date $910,518
Differences between actual and expected experience 33,387 ($11,362)
Changes in assumptions 99,204 (24,313)
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on 
plan investments 4,302
Net Change in proportion and differences between actual 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 1,054,216             -                         

Total $2,101,627 ($35,675)
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NOTE 5 – PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

At June 30, 2019, the District reported $934,198 as deferred outflows of resources related to 
contributions paid subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of 
the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2020. Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as 
pension expense as follows: 

 
At June 30, 2019, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to the Safety Plan from the following sources: 
 

Safety
Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date $23,680
Differences between actual and expected experience 15
Changes in assumptions 70 ($9)
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on plan 
investments 5
Net Change in proportion and differences between actual 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions (87)                          

Total $23,770 ($96)
 

 
At June 30, 2019, the District reported $23,680 as deferred outflows of resources related to 
contributions paid subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of 
the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2020. Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as 
pension expense as follows: 

 

 
  

Miscellaneous Plan
Year Ended Annual

June 30 Amortization
2020 $605,123
2021 451,249
2022 106,890
2023 (7,828)
Total $1,155,434

Safety Plan
Year Ended Annual

June 30 Amortization
2020 $34
2021 8
2022 (43)
2023 (5)
Total ($6)

Page 55 of 120



SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
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NOTE 5 – PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liabilities was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions: 
 

All Plans
Valuation Date June 30, 2017
Measurement Date June 30, 2018
Actuarial Cost Method Entry-Age Normal in accordance with the requirements of

GASB Statement No. 68
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.15%
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases Varies by Entry Age and Service

Mortality Rate Table
(1)

Derived using CalPers Membership Data for all Funds 
Post Retirement Benefit 
Increase

Contract COLA up to 2.00% until Purchasing Power Protection 
Allowance Floor on Purchasing Power applies, 2.50% thereafter

(1) The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS’ specific data. The table includes 

15 years of mortality improvements using Society of Actuaries Scale 90% of scale MP 2016. 

For more details on this table, please refer to the December 2017 experience study report
(based on CalPERS demographic data from 1997 to 2015) that can be found on the CalPERS website.  

 
Change of Assumptions – For the measurement date of June 30, 2018, the inflation rate reduced 
from 2.75% to 2.50%. 
 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for each Plan was 
7.15%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate for each Plan assumed 
that contributions from all plan members in the Public Employees Retirement Fund (PERF) will 
be made at the current member contribution rates and that contributions from employers will be 
made at statutorily required rates, actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, each 
Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members for all plans in the PERF. Therefore, the long-term expected 
rate of return on plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to 
determine the total pension liability for each Plan.  
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a 
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class. 
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NOTE 5 – PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term 
and long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Using 
historical returns of all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound (geometric) returns were 
calculated over the short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11+ years) using a building-
block approach. Using the expected nominal returns for both short-term and long-term, the 
present value of benefits was calculated for each fund. The expected rate of return was set by 
calculating the single equivalent expected return that arrived at the same present value of benefits 
for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term and long-term returns. The expected 
rate of return was then set equivalent to the single equivalent rate calculated above and adjusted 
to account for assumed administrative expenses.  

The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of 
return was calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate 
and asset allocation. These rates of return are net of administrative expenses.   
 

Asset Class (a) 
New Strategic

Allocation
Real Return

Years 1 - 10(b)
Real Return
Years 11+(c)

Global Equity 50.0% 4.80% 5.98%
Fixed Income 28.0% 1.00% 2.62%
Inflation Sensitive 0.0% 0.77% 1.81%
Private Equity 8.0% 6.30% 7.23%
Real Estate 13.0% 3.75% 4.93%
Liquidity 1.0% 0.00% -0.92%

Total 100%

(a) In the CalPERS CAFR, Fixed Income is included in Global Debt Securities;
Liquidity is included in Short-term Investments; Inflation Assets are included
in both Global Equity Securities and Global Debt Securities.
(b)  An expected inflation of 2.0% used for this period.
(c) An expected inflation of 2.92% used for this period.  

 
Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate – The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability of the 
Plans as of the measurement date, calculated using the discount rate of 7.15 percent, as well as 
what the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower (6.15 percent) or 1 percentage-point higher 
(8.15 percent) than the current rate: 
 

Miscellaneous Safety

1% Decrease 6.15% 6.15%

Net Pension Liability $1,836,919 $5,269

Current Discount Rate 7.15% 7.15%

Net Pension Liability $870,184 $709

1% Increase 8.15% 8.15%

Net Pension Liability (Asset) $72,160 ($3,028)   
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For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

NOTE 5 – PENSION PLANS (Continued) 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – CalPERS issues a separate comprehensive annual 
financial report, copies of which may be obtained from the CalPERS Executive Offices, Lincoln 
Plaza East, 400 Q Street, Sacramento, California 95814. 

NOTE 6 – OTHER POST- EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (OPEB) 

A. General Information about the District’s Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) Plan

By SMART Board of Directors resolution, SMART will provide certain health care benefits for
retired employees under third-party insurance plans. The District’s Post Employment Benefit Plan
is a single-employer defined benefit plan. Employees become eligible to retire and receive
healthcare benefits upon reaching retirement age with at least 5 years of service or being converted
to disability, retiring directly from the District, and continue participating in Public Employees’
Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA) after retirement. The PEMHCA minimum benefit was
$133 per month in 2018, and is $136 per month in 2019. As of June 30, 2019, there were two retiree
receiving OPEB benefits.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms – Membership in the plan consisted of the following at the
measurement date of June 30, 2018:

Active employees 106
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently

receiving benefit payments 1
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet 

receiving benefit payments 0
Total 107
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NOTE 6 – OTHER POST- EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (OPEB) (Continued) 
 
B.  Total OPEB Liability 
 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions – The District’s total OPEB liability was measured as of June 
30, 2018 and the total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation dated July 1, 2017 
that was rolled forward using standard update procedures to determine the $1,995,295 total OPEB 
liability as of June 30, 2018, based on the following actuarial methods and assumptions:  
 

Actuarial Assumptions
Valuation Date July 01, 2017
Measurement Date June 30, 2018
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age actuarial cost method
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 3.56% at June 30 2017, and 3.62% at June 30 2018. Since the benefits are not 
funded, the discount rate is equal to the 20-year bond rate.

20 Year Bond Rate SMART has chosen to use the "Fidelity General Obligation AA" as its 20-
year bond rate. That Index was 3.56% at June 30 2017, and 3.62% at June 30 

Premium Increases Medical Premiums and PEMHCA minimum are assumed to increase as 
follows: 2020-2023 to 4%, 2024-2027 to 4.5%, 2028 and later to 5.0%.

Payroll Growth Total payroll is assumed to increase 3.0% per year in the future.

Mortality Rate Rates are taken from 2014 CalPERS OPEB Assumption Model.
Retirement Rates are taken from 2014 CalPERS OPEB Assumption Model for 

miscellaneous public employees with 2% at age 55, 2% at 60, or 2% at 62 
retirement formula, depending on which the employee has now.

Coverage Elections 80% of future eligible retired employees are assumed to participate in this 
program. Employees with no current medical coverage are assumed to elect 
Kaiser employee-only coverage upon retirement.

Turnover (withdrawal) Likelihood of termination within the next year is taken from the 2014 CalPERS 
OPEB Assumptions Model, rates for Public Miscellaneous employees.

Inflation Long-term inflation is assumed to be 2.75% per year.
Age-Specific Medical Claims The estimated per person medical claims (true cost of coverage) during the 

2017-18 fiscal year are as follows: Ages 40, 45, 50, 55, 60, 64 amount per age 
respectfully are $7,581; $9,168; $11,326; $13,968; $16,281; $17,468.  

 
C.  Changes in Total OPEB Liability 
 
 The changes in the total OPEB liability follows: 
 

Total OPEB
Liability

Balance at June 30, 2017 $1,532,175
Changes Recognized for the Measurement Period:

Service cost 438,273
Interest on the total OPEB liability 54,494
Differences between expected and actual experience 0
Changes of assumptions (26,755)
Benefit payments (2,891)

Net changes 463,121
Balance at June 30, 2018 (Measurement Date) $1,995,296
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NOTE 6 – OTHER POST- EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (OPEB) (Continued) 
 
D.  Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate and Healthcare Cost 

Trend Rates 
 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District's total 
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower 
2.62% or 1-percentage-point higher 4.62% than the current discount rate: 
 

Total OPEB Liability/(Asset)
Discount Rate -1% Discount Rate Discount Rate +1%

2.62% 3.62% 4.62%
$2,507,891 $1,995,296 $1,609,092  

 
The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District's total 
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-
point lower 3% to 4% or 1-percentage-point higher 5% to 6% than the current healthcare cost trend 
rates: 

Total OPEB Liability/(Asset)
1% Decrease Healthcare Cost 1% Increase

Trend Rates
3% to 4% 4% to 5% 5% to 6%

$1,589,935 $1,995,296 $2,532,125  
 
E.  OPEB Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the District recognized OPEB expense of $469,874.  At June 30, 
2019, the District reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB from the 
following sources:  

 
  

Deferred OutflowsDeferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Employer contributions made subsequent to the measurement date $1,021
Differences between actual and expected experience
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments
Changes of assumptions $224,341

Total $1,021 $224,341
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NOTE 6 – OTHER POST- EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (OPEB) (Continued) 
 

The $1,021 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the OPEB liability in the year ended June 30, 
2020.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to OPEB will be recognized as part of OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Year Annual
Ended June 30 Amortization

2020 ($22,893)
2021 (22,893)
2022 (22,893)
2023 (22,893)
2024 (22,893)

Thereafter (109,876)
Total ($224,341)

 
 

NOTE 7 - COMMITMENTS 
 
A. Lease Commitments 
 

SMART’s future noncancellable lease payments are: 
 

Year Ending Minimum
June 30 Lease Payment

2020 438,508
2021 448,966
2022 456,363
2023 73,582

Total $1,417,419

 
B. Purchase Commitments 

 
At June 30, 2019, SMART had outstanding purchase and contract commitments for the rail and 
pathway project of $38,775,387. 
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SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
Miscellaneous and Safety Cost Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Pension Plan 

As of fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 
Last 10 Years*  

SCHEDULE OF THE DISTRICT’S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION 
LIABILITY 

Miscellaneous Plan
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Measurement Period 6/30/2014 6/30/2015 6/30/2016 6/30/2017 6/30/2018
Plan's proportion of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) 0.01018% 0.02376% 0.02136% 0.02376% 0.02309%
Plan's proportion share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) $633,530 $585,152 $742,146 $936,778 $870,893
Covered Payroll 3,073,231   3,572,374   6,017,592   9,930,773   11,175,297
Plan's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability/(Asset) as a 
Percentage of its Covered Payroll 20.61% 16.38% 12.33% 9.43% 7.79%
Plan's Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Plan's Total 
Pension Liability 79.82% 78.40% 74.06% 73.31% 75.26%

Safety Plan **
2019

Measurement Period 6/30/2018
Plan's proportion of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) 0.00001%
Plan's proportion share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) $709
Covered Payroll $180,138
Plan's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability/(Asset) as a 
Percentage of its Covered Payroll 0.39%
Plan's Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Plan's Total 
Pension Liability 75.26%

* - Fiscal year 2015 was the first year of implementation.
**- Fiscal year 2019 was the first year that Safety Plan information was available.
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SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
Cost Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Pension Plan 

As of fiscal year ending June 30, 2018 
Last 10 Years*  

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS 

Miscellaneous
Fiscal Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Actuarially determined contribution $347,672 $409,897 $699,783 $747,878 $910,518
Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
determined contributions (347,672) (477,840) (699,783) (747,878) (910,518)            
Contribution deficiency (excess) - ($67,943) - - -

Covered payroll $3,572,374 $6,017,592 $9,930,773 $11,175,297 $12,916,529

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 9.73% 7.94% 7.05% 6.69% 7.05%

Safety Plan **
Fiscal Year 2019

Actuarially determined contribution $23,680
Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
determined contributions (347,672)
Contribution deficiency (excess) -

Covered payroll $195,041 5610.40

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 178.26%

Notes to Schedule Contributions
Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry-Age Normal Cost in accordance with the requirements of 
GASB Statement No.68

Actual Assumptions:
    Discount Rate 7.15%

    Inflation 2.50%

    Payroll Growth Varies by Entry Age and Service

    Investment Rate of Return
    Mortality

(1)  Net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation
(2) The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS’ specific data. The table includes 15 years of mortality 
improvements using Society of Actuaries Scale 90% of scale MP 2016. For more details on this table, please refer to 
the CalPERS 2017 experience study report available on CalPERS website.

* Fiscal year 2015 was the first year of implementation, therefore only three years are shown.
**- Fiscal year 2019 was the first year that Safety Plan information was available.

Derived using CalPERS Membership Data for all Funds (2)

7.15% (1)
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SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT
SINGLE EMPLOYER PLAN

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

Last 10 fiscal years*

Measurement Date 6/30/17 6/30/18

Total OPEB Liability
Service Cost $478,730 $438,273
Interest 36,782 54,494
Changes of benefit terms
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions (241,085) (26,755)
Benefit payments (3,801) (2,891)
Net change in total OPEB liability 270,626 463,121
Total OPEB liability - beginning 1,261,549 1,532,175
Total OPEB liability - ending $1,532,175 $1,995,296

Covered payroll $9,930,773 $11,175,297

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll -15.43% -17.85%

* Fiscal year 2018 was the first year of implementation.
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STATISTICAL SECTION 
 
This part of the District’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents detailed information as a 
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required 
supplementary information says about the District’s overall financial health.  In contrast to the financial 
section, the statistical section information is not subject to independent audit. 
 
Financial Trends 
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the District’s financial 
performance and well-being have changed over time. 
 

 Table 1- Net Position by Component 
 Table 2- Changes in Net Position 
 Table 3- Non-Capital Expenditures by Category 

 
Revenue Capacity 
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the District’s most significant revenue source, 
capital grants and contributions. Also included in this section is current information on the District’s 
ongoing significant source of revenues, the sales tax. 
 

 Table 4- General Revenue by Source 
 Table 5- Revenue Base and Revenue Rate 
 Table 6- Overlapping Governments and Sales Tax Rates 
 Table 7- Principal Revenue Payers 

 
Debt Capacity 
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the District’s current levels 
of outstanding debt and the District’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 
 

 Table 8- Debt Service Coverage – Pledged Sales Tax Revenue 
 Table 9- Ratios of Outstanding Debt 

 
Demographic and Economic Information  
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment 
within which the District’s financial activities take place.  
 

 Table 10- Demographic and Economic Statistics 
 Table 11- Principal Employers 

 
Operating Information  
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in 
the District’s financial report relates to the services the District provides and the activities it performs. 
 

 Table 12- Operating Information 
 Table 13- Employees – Full-Time Equivalent  

 
Sources 
Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Reports for the relevant year.   
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Marin County Total Sonoma County SMART District
SMART Sales Total Sales Tax Taxable Sales Total Taxable Sales Total Taxable Sales

Fiscal Year Tax Rate Revenue (In Thousands) (In Thousands) (In Thousands)
2010 0.25% 24,059,929$      3,751,474$                6,321,094$                10,072,568$              
2011 0.25% 26,826,843        3,928,074                  6,701,426                  10,629,500                
2012 0.25% 28,303,501        4,185,542                  7,152,875                  11,338,417                
2013 0.25% 30,435,753        4,500,247                  7,711,052                  12,211,299                
2014 0.25% 32,473,329        4,769,878                  8,264,339                  13,034,217                
2015 0.25% 33,845,426        4,957,364                  8,626,295                  13,583,659                
2016 0.25% 34,776,012        5,091,014                  8,843,184                  13,934,198                
2017 0.25% 36,061,895        5,004,443 9,154,084 14,158,526                
2018 0.25% 37,135,476        5,343,038                  9,444,873                  14,787,910                
2019 0.25% 41,241,140$      5,454,389$                9,966,334$                15,420,723$              

Source: California Department of Tax and Fee Administration

SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT
REVENUE BASE AND REVENUE RATE

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Table 5
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Fiscal Year State(a) City County(b) SMART(d) Total
2012 7.25% 0 to 0.50% 0.50% 0.25% 8% to 9%
2013 7.50% 0 to 0.50% 0.50% 0.25% 8% to 9%
2014 7.50% 0 to 0.50% 0.75% 0.25% 8.5% to 9%
2015 7.50% 0 to 0.50% 0.75% 0.25% 8.5% to 9%
2016 7.50% 0 to 0.50% 0.75% 0.25% 8.5% to 9%
2017 7.25% 0 to 0.75% 0.75% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2018 7.25% 0 to 0.75% 0.75% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2019 7.25% 0 to 0.75% 0.75% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%

Fiscal Year State(a) City County( c) SMART(d) Total
2012 7.25% 0 to 0.50% 0.50% 0.25% 8.25% to 8.5%
2013 7.50% 0 to 0.50% 0.50% 0.25% 8.25% to 8.5%
2014 7.50% 0 to 0.75% 0.50% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2015 7.50% 0 to 0.75% 0.50% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2016 7.50% 0 to 0.75% 0.50% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2017 7.25% 0 to 1.00% 0.625% 0.25% 8.125% to 9.125%
2018 7.25% 0 to 1.00% 0.625% 0.25% 8.125% to 9.125%
2019 7.25% 0 to 1.00% 0.880% 0.25% 8.25% to 9.25%

FY2012 First Year SMART began compiling statistical data
The cities within each county sales tax varies and they are combined to create this chart.

(a) Statewide sales and use tax rate increased 0.25% on January 1, 2013, and decrease by 0.25% on January 1, 2017

(b) Marin Parks/Open Space/Farmland Preservation Transactions and Use Tax (0.25%, effective
04-01-13) and Transportation Authority of Marin County (0.50%, effective 04-01-05)

(c) Sonoma County Transportation Authority (0.25%, 04-01-05), Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation & Open Spa
District Transactions and Use Tax (0.25%, 04-01-11), Sonoma County Library Maintenance, Restoration,
Enhancement Act (0.125%, 4-1-17), Sonoma County Parks and Safety Transactions (0.25%, 04-01-19)

(d) SMART sales tax effective April 1, 2009

Source: California State Board of Equalization,California City & County Sales & Use Tax Rates , 
District Taxes, Rates, and Effective Dates (CDTFA-105)

Sonoma County

Table 6
SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS AND SALES TAX RATES
Last Eight Fiscal Years*

Marin County
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Personal Income Per Capita Unemployment
Year Population (in thousands) Personal Income Rate
2010 252,731 20,748,885$  82,021$  8.0%
2011 254,359 22,741,276 89,009 7.4%
2012 254,882 23,918,732 93,407 6.3%
2013 258,365 25,093,401 97,124 5.0%
2014 260,516 27,176,774 104,319 4.3%
2015 261,054 29,227,230 114,455 3.6%
2016 260,651 30,222,883 117,552 3.4%
2017 263,886 32,867,529 124,552 2.9%

    2018** 266,525 33,196,204$  124,552$  2.3%

Personal Income Per Capita Unemployment
Year Population (in thousands) Personal Income Rate
2010 484,084 21,080,297$  43,482$  10.5%
2011 486,778 22,356,767 45,805 9.8%
2012 489,283 23,548,182 47,879 8.6%
2013 495,025 24,905,827 50,312 6.7%
2014 499,168 25,224,331 50,533 5.6%
2015 501,474 27,284,819 55,445 4.5%
2016 503,070 28,457,348 57,264 4.1%
2017 503,332 30,343,873 60,286 3.4%

  2018* 508,365 30,647,311$  60,286$  2.7%

*2018 Most recent complete data available
Sources:
Population, Per Capita US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analusis - www.bea.gov, released Nov 14, 2019
Unemployment Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information - www.labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov 

Marin County

Sonoma County

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS (Unaudited)
SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

Table 10

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Employer
Number of 
Employees

Percent of Total 
Employment**

BioMarin Pharmaceutical 2,500 1.78%
County of Marin 2,313 1.65%
Kaiser Permanente San Rafael Medical Center 2,014 1.43%
San Quentin State Prison 1,778 1.27%
Marin General Hospital 1,109 0.79%
Glassdoor 800 0.57%
Novato Unified School District 800 0.57%
Dominican University of California 750 0.53%
Autodesk 700 0.50%
Novato Community Hospital 354 0.25%

Employer
Number of 
Employees

Percent of Total 
Employment**

County of Sonoma 3,722 1.43%
Kaiser Permanente 3,008 1.15%
Santa Rosa Junior College 3,006 1.15%
St. Joseph Health, Sonoma County 2,500 0.96%
Graton Resort and Casino*** 2,000 0.77%
Keysight Technologies*** 2,000 0.77%
Santa Rosa School District*** 1,691 0.65%
City of Santa Rosa 1,300 0.50%
Safeway, Inc*** 1,200 0.46%
Jackson Family Wines 1,098 0.42%

*The "9 Years Ago" data unavailable, SMART records began 2013
Data Reflects August 2018 Employed

Sources:
North Bay Business Journal
County of Marin
San Quentin State Prison
Novato Unified School District
BioMarin Pharmaceutical
County of Sonoma
Graton Resort & Casino
City of Santa Rosa
Santa Rosa School District

**Calculated using California Employment Development Department 
***Utilized 2018 data, 2019 not available

Table 11
SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

MAJOR EMPLOYERS (UNAUDITED)

Marin County 2019

Sonoma County 2019

Current Year*
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Board of Directors of the 
  Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Petaluma, California 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the basic financial statements of the Sonoma-
Marin Area Rail Transit District (District), California, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 6, 2019.  

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered District’s internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of District’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the District’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified.  
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards.   

We have also issued a separate Memorandum on Internal Control dated December 6, 2019 which is an 
integral part of our audit and should be read in conjunction with this report. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
December 6, 2019 
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         AGENDA ITEM #4 

 
5401 Old Redwood Hwy., Suite 200  Page 1 of 1 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Tel:  707.794.3330/Fax: 707.794.3037 

 
 

 
 

DATE: April 21, 2020 
 
TO: Citizens Oversight Committee Members 
 
FROM:   Erin McGrath, Chief Financial Officer 
  
SUBJECT: Discussion of SMART’s Budget and Reserves 
 
 

  
  
 

Attached are the following reports: 
 

1. Fiscal Year 2020-21 Budget Discussion and Establishing Minimum 
Reserves Policy – Presented to SMART Board of Directors on April 15, 
2020 
 
 

2. Budget and Reserves Policy PowerPoint Presentation – Presented to 
SMART Board of Directors on April 15, 2020 
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Eric Lucan Chair 
Transportation Authority of Marin 
 
Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 
 
 
Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors  
 
Damon Connolly 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 
 
Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 
 
Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 
 
Joe Naujokas 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Gary Phillips 
Transportation Authority of Marin 
 
David Rabbitt 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
 
Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Shirlee Zane 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
 

 

 

Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 

 

 
5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.sonomamarintrain.org 

 

AGENDA ITEM 9 

 
April 15, 2020  
 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
 
SUBJECT:   Fiscal Year 2020-21 Budget Discussion and Establishing 
Minimum Reserve Policy 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Direct staff to prepare Fiscal Year 2020-21 Budget with a Minimum $10 
million Reserves and $6 million in Expenditure Reductions 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   
We are working on preparing the budget with three factors at the 
forefront:  

▪ The failure of Measure I which would have allowed us to 
restructure our debt and achieve lower annual debt payments by 
$12 million annually 

▪ The need to set a minimum reserve policy and preserve existing 
reserves in a sustainable way 

▪ The financial impact of the COVID-19 shut-downs 
 
Today we will be briefing you on each of these issues and request direction 
on budget preparation.   
 
Budget Outlook:   
During the Strategic Planning process, we identified a future imbalance of 
$9 million annually tied to increasing debt service on the construction of 
the 45-mile transit system.  This imbalance would have meant diminishing 
reserves and financial instability if no action was taken. As a result of 
reviewing these projections and discussing the reality that reducing 
expenditures would mean reducing service, your Board moved forward 
with a plan to extend the sales tax.   
 
Measure I would have extended the length of the tax and allowed us to 
refinance the debt.  This would have resulted in significant debt relief by 
reducing payments $12 million annually and resulted in long-term financial 
stability.     
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With the failure of Measure I, we are left with our original problem, which is illustrated in the chart 
below that we have reviewed in previous meetings.    
 

 
 
In the red Cumulative Deficit row, there is a $9 million shortfall in Fiscal Year 2022-23 that – if not 
addressed – would have eliminated our reserves. Without the ability to pursue a significant 
refinancing, we must now turn to expenditure reductions and other measures to address that 
imbalance.  Our original budget planning recommendation to your Board was to implement $3 
million in savings each year for the next three years in order to address this future drawdown of 
reserves.  Our original projections would have eliminated this imbalance.   
 
Refinancing Existing Construction Debt: 
As part of the need to reduce expenditures, we have been looking for an opportunity to refinance 
our exiting bond debt given the recent economic conditions and the drop in interest rates. SMART’s 
outstanding debt that allowed us to build the train and pathway is $136.9 million. Without an 
extension of the expiration date for the tax, the significant $12 million reduction in debt service we 
had hoped to achieve cannot be realized.  Because of the limited remaining duration of the tax and 
the level of interest rates, prior to 2020 we did not project significant benefits to refinancing within 
the existing bond term. 
 
However, with a decline in interest rates in recent weeks, the situation has changed.  We have been 
working in conjunction with SMART’s expert Municipal Advisor, PFM Financial Advisors LLC, to 
monitor the municipal bond market for potential opportunities to refinance the outstanding 
Measure Q Sales Tax Revenue Bonds to generate debt service savings.   
 
Based on market conditions as of April 3rd, a refinancing of the 2011 Bonds could potentially generate 
annual cashflow savings for SMART.  Annual debt service on the 2011 Bonds escalates from $17.4 
million in FY 2021 to $22.0 million in FY 2028, the year of maximum debt service.  Assuming current 
market rates as of April 3, a taxable advance refunding with the same final maturity would generate 
between $1.1 and $2.5 million of annual cashflow savings through FY2029 depending on the 
structure, terms and other factors that affect pricing.  A number of things could affect that pricing, 
including the willingness of investors to participate, a change in rates or credit ratings, and continued 
economic uncertainty, along with the ability to call the bonds earlier than 2029.  

CURRENT YR PROJECTIONS

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

Operations Revenue $51.0 $56.5 $54.1 $55.5

Operations Expense  -$41.3 -$43.2 -$44.5 -$45.8

Debt Service -$16.7 -$17.4 -$18.1 -$18.7

Capital Expenses Not Covered by Grants -$12.2 -$0.3 $0.0 $0.0

Subtotal (Needs Reserves/Annual Deficit) -$19.2 -$4.4 -$8.5 -$9.0

Starting Unrestricted Reserves $26.5 $7.3 $2.9 $0.0

Ending Unrestricted Reserves/Cumulative Deficit $7.3 $2.9 -$5.5 -$9.0

Agency  Reserve $17.0 $17.0 $11.5 $2.5

Dimishing Reserves
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There would likely be a direct tradeoff between the call date of the bonds and the amount of savings 
attained.  In essence, we would evaluate the tradeoff between savings and future opportunities to 
refinance for the life of the debt prior to 2029, which SMART might want to following a future tax 
extension. 
 
We have looked at two possible options for the process of refinancing.  One way would be through 
a negotiated public offering, as SMART undertook for the 2011 Bonds.   However, that takes many 
months and with the COVID-19 crisis ongoing, it is difficult to anticipate whether or when further 
disruptions to the financial market might occur.  The municipal bond market was effectively shut 
down for two weeks in mid to late March as investors sought liquidity and safety, exiting from 
numerous asset classes, including municipal bonds.  During this period, many issuers shifted from 
public offerings to direct or private placement of debt, which involves a financing entity directly 
purchasing bonds from issuers.  
 
The other possible option we are evaluating is a private placement of debt directly with a financing 
entity.  PFM has had exploratory discussions with several major investment banks to assess whether 
there might be capacity and interest to participate in a proposal process related to a privately placed 
SMART refunding transaction.  Of the four banks contacted, three indicated a potential interest 
depending on the timing and circumstances when SMART is ready to proceed. This could potentially 
save time, allowing us to capture potential savings before they disappear, and lead to a more tailored 
structure that meets SMART’s long-term needs. 
 
We will continue to investigate these options and will return to your Board with a proposal for action 
in the coming weeks.  
 
Minimum Reserves: 
In conjunction with budget planning, we also are moving forward with approving a policy to set 
minimum reserves for SMART.  This is both an industry best practice in government as well as an 
important tool for the District to manage future unanticipated expenses, revenue downturns and 
stability in operations. 
 
During the early years of our initial financial planning, we maintained a very high reserve of 50% of 
future operating costs because there were so many unknowns in starting a new rail and pathway 
service with characteristics that are unique to SMART.  Now, with nearly three years of operations 
under our belts, we can more predictably model our baseline revenues and expenses, identify the 
risks we face, and recommend a more formal reserve policy.  This policy would create the guidance 
needed for budget preparation, future financial planning, and set boundaries for future use of these 
reserves. 
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A sample of policies of some other local and transit agencies reveals various choices around this 
topic: 

 
Agency     Published Reserve Policy      
City of Santa Rosa   15-17% of Annual Expenditure 
City of San Rafael   10% of Annual Expense 
City of Novato   15% of Annual Expense 
County of Sonoma   8.3% of Annual Revenues (One month) 
County of Marin    5% of Annual Expense 
Golden Gate BH&TD  7.5% Annual Operations, 3.5% Emergency 
SF MTA (Muni)          10% Annual Operating Expense 
Utah Transit                                     9.33% of Annual Expense 
Trimet, Portland   2.5 Months Operating Expense (21%) 
VTA (Santa Clara)   15% of Expense, Sales Tax stabilization fund $35 M (105)  
 

There are a number of different approaches to this issue as illustrated above. In considering a minimum 
reserve, an Agency’s size function and various revenue sources should influence the decision on how 
much to set aside. As an independent agency primarily reliant on one major revenue source with no 
ability to ask for assistance from a bigger entity or to spread our risk out over various divisions, we 
face somewhat greater risks in our revenues than a County, for example.  We also have so many 
interdependent operations functions that our expenses are difficult to reduce quickly in the face of 
a downturn as we see happening right now nationwide. 
 
Our goal should be to fund a reserve that doesn’t overly tie up excess resources but sufficiently 
addresses operational risk.  It should also recognize the significant role that sales tax plays in funding 
our budget.   While reserves cannot possibly address an economic shock of the magnitude we are 
facing today, they should be sufficient to help with the management of a typical economic cyclical 
downturn.  
 
We recommend a minimum reserve policy that preserves $10 million as your minimum for Fiscal 
Year 2021 and beyond.  This calculation is 25% of our Fiscal Year 2020 ongoing operations 
expenditures (excluding capital project and debt costs).   This amount would be available for future 
unpredicted costs or revenue losses.   We are currently carrying more than that in our operations 
reserve, which allows us some time to deal with some of the fiscal challenges we are facing.  We also 
recommend that this $10 million become a minimum dollar amount even though we anticipate 
reducing expenditures in the coming months to address the budget deficit.  Going forward, we would 
recommend increasing the amount if our expenditures increase to the point where $10 million is no 
longer 25% of our expenditures. 
 
Further, we recommend that your Board adopt a policy that states the use of SMART’s reserve 
should require a 2/3 vote so that the use of the funds is preserved as a funding source of last resort 
in budget deliberations.     
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New Budget Challenge: This month we are adjusting to the new challenge of projecting the impact 
of the COVID 19 shutdowns on our financial health.  This is an unprecedented socioeconomic event 
with implications that are difficult to quantify for a number of reasons.  First, we know we have 
immediate impacts related to the loss of fare revenue equating to $90,000 a week.  Second, we have 
staff who are impacted in their ability to come to work due to illness or family responsibilities and 
new, unfunded mandates for leave for those employees. Finally, the impact on our sales tax receipts 
since the initial shelter-in-place orders will not be apparent until May and won’t be fully recorded 
until July.  In addition, the delay and impact related to the Governor’s order relaxing the submission 
of owed tax to small business is also difficult to determine.  Finally, and the most challenging, is 
estimating the length in time of the economic impact. 
 
What is certain is that the shutdown will impact sales tax dramatically in the short run, which means 
it will affect almost 90% of our revenue, due to the impact on both the SMART District tax and the 
State’s revenues for operating assistance.  While sales of certain goods have continued during the 
stay-at-home order, some significant sales are not occurring.  See below a breakdown of our sales 
tax business mix.   

General Retail 27% 

Food Products 20% 

Transportation 21% 

Construction 14% 

Business To Business 15% 

Miscellaneous 3% 

 
There are significant business impacts of the shelter-in-place orders in each and every one of these 
sectors, from car sales to retail. Our initial projection is that this would mean a loss of 20% of our 
anticipated sales tax related revenue in Fiscal Year 2020 which ends in June.  We also have lost most 
of our fare revenue starting in early March, as our ridership is below 300 daily. Thus, we are 
estimating a 30% drop in budgeted fare revenue for Fiscal Year 2020.  See below the chart outlining 
these losses: 

FISCAL YEAR 2019-20 IMPACTS OF SHELTER-IN-PLACE   

Measure Q - Sales Tax     

  Original   $                   39,312,541    

  Revised                           31,450,033    

  (loss)                         (7,862,508)   

State Rail/Transit Funding    

  Original State                          7,786,239    

  Revised  State                          6,228,991    

  (loss)                         (1,557,248)   

Fare Revenue     

  Original                           4,137,000    

  Revised                             2,482,200    

  (loss)                         (1,654,800)   

       

Total Loss (Projection)  $                 (11,074,556)   
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Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act 
At the end of March, the federal government approved the CARES Act which provided $25 billion to 
public transportation systems nationwide.  For the past several weeks, the 27 Bay Area General 
Managers and Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) Executive staff have been 
negotiating the best way to distribute the Bay Area’s $1.3 billion that has been targeted for transit 
agencies.  These funds have been allocated for the specific use of maintaining transit staff and a 
reasonable level of service by backfilling for both the loss of revenues and the reimbursement for 
expenses as a direct result of COVID-19.   SMART’s initial allocation is estimated to be $10 million, 
but that is subject to MTC approval on April 22 and then Federal Transit Agency (FTA) approval 
through the grant process.   There may be additional funds forthcoming in the coming months as 
only 60% of the funds are being proposed to be allocated at this time.   
 
The initial $10 million grant will fill our estimated Fiscal Year 2019-20 loss.  However, it seems likely 
that even in the case that businesses are allowed to open by June, it is again unclear how long the 
impact will affect our revenues.  One scenario is that the impact is short-lived and revenues recover 
sufficiently at the start of the new fiscal year to bring sales back to former levels.  A more realistic 
and conservative view is that the sales tax will not recover that quickly and will take up to a year or 
more to return to pre-COVID-19 levels.   In that scenario we would be facing a second impact 
outlining an additional $11 million loss in Fiscal Year 2020-21.  This loss could be partially filled by a 
second negotiation with the Bay Area transit operators over remaining CARES Act allocations.   
However, recovery could also take much longer and impacts could be much higher. 
 
Budget Planning:  SMART was already facing a daunting task to correct a future budget imbalance.  
The addition of a revenue shock of indeterminate length means that we are facing a second challenge 
of absorbing future sales tax losses until the economy recovers should federal assistance not fill that 
revenue loss.  Fortunately, we had planned to close the Fiscal Year with significant reserves, which 
allow us some cushion in our cashflow projections.  However, these will be quickly depleted without 
significant revenue and expenditure changes. 
 
In preparing budget targets for Fiscal Year 2020-21, we will follow to the principles adopted by the 
Board in the 2020 Expenditure Plan which continue to govern our choices.  Those are: 
 

1. Provide for Ongoing Operation, Maintenance and Financing of Current Operations 
2. Prioritize Safety, Education and Community Outreach   
3. Capital Projects and Rolling Stock 

 
Unfortunately, it will be nearly impossible to make changes to eliminate all future deficits without 
affecting priority #1, preserving ongoing operations.  There are significant fixed costs with running a 
railroad operation, such as 24-hour dispatching and signal maintenance response, minimum levels 
of track and signal system maintenance, and required minimum rail vehicle maintenance schedules.  
The only way to reduce costs will be to variable costs such as the number of service runs.   
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While originally we had planned to make $3 million in reductions in the budget, we are now working 
toward a higher target of up to $6 million in Fiscal Year 2020-21.  We cannot predict what the coming 
year will hold as far as the continued impact of the shelter-in-place order and the amount of 
assistance we will receive from the federal government. Thus, we are working to increase our efforts 
for the Fiscal Year 2020-21 budget that will help us in addressing the long-term structural problem 
and the immediate revenue crises.  This target was chosen as an aggressive but potentially achievable 
amount in the coming Fiscal Year.   
 
We are currently looking to three major strategies for budget reduction proposals. These are 
presented in priority order but all will be needed to meet our targets.   
 

1. One-time savings:   Expenditure reductions for items that were part of our budget planning 
for the current and future fiscal year and will now be deferred.  This includes:  

▪ Deferral of machinery and equipment 
▪ Extended replacement cycles for vehicles 
▪ Deferral of mitigation measures and enhancements 
▪ Deferral of non-safety capital projects and matching funds 

 
2. Reduction in Ongoing Expense, Salary and Non-salary:  These are ongoing expenditures that 

are important but could be considered for reductions without a direct impact on the SMART 
train schedule.  This would include reductions to or elimination of the following: 

▪ Train WiFi service 
▪ Information Technology upgrades and servicing 
▪ Customer service contract with Golden Gate Bridge District 
▪ Debt refinancing 
▪ Federal and state advocacy services 
▪ Communications/outreach contracts and activities 
▪ North County bus service 
▪ Elimination of non-critical vacant positions 
▪ Discussing with our unions various means of reducing labor costs, including a 

possible wage reopener for the current July 1 increases.  
 

3. Reduction in Ongoing Expense Due to Reductions in Service:  These are reductions that would 
result from running fewer trains. Fewer trains would mean a decrease full-time staff and 
some related non-salary expenditures. These proposed reductions could mean a loss in either 
direct fare revenue or related revenue from State and Federal sources and the savings would 
be reduced by these losses.  It could also impact our ability to compete for service expansion 
grants depending on the severity of the cuts.   

 
The sooner we can identify reductions, the more effectively we can impact our bottom line and give 
us greater ability to weather the current storm we are experiencing.   
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All of these assumptions are subject to change due to the fluid nature of the economy currently and 
the length of time this current downturn lasts. Of course, a larger, more long-lasting economic 
downturn would mean that this initial $6 million target could be followed by a new effort to reduce 
expenses shortly thereafter rather than waiting for the next budget cycle.   In the long run, there is 
no question that there will be significant impacts to our riders of reductions that could reach $9 
million over time. There is no way to cushion the impact of such a change from our everyday 
operations functions.  Operation and maintenance of the train and pathway is what we do, there is 
no other place to look for reductions.  
 
While there will be continued discussion about our financial projections throughout the length of the 
COVID-19 crises, for purposes of our current budget process, we will be moving quickly to prepare 
budget proposals and bring them to you for consideration.   
 
Our current tentative schedule of public meetings on the Fiscal Year 2020-21 budget are as follows: 
 
April 15:   Briefing on targets and reduction categories 
April 21:   Citizens Oversight Committee discussion of budget and refinancing 
May 6:   Update on budget process and any follow-up from April 
May 20:   Preliminary Budget Presentation and Discussion 
June 3:   First opportunity for Board Approval of Budget 
June 17:   Final opportunity for Board Approval of Budget 
 
At this time, we ask for your feedback and input on our plans, reserves and strategies.  We will be 
seeking feedback from the Citizens’ Oversight Committee next week and will report back to you any 
input from that meeting.      
 
Very truly yours, 
 
  /s/ 
Erin McGrath 
Chief Financial Officer 
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OVERVIEW

 Budget impacts of the failure of Measure I 

 Setting a minimum reserve policy

 The financial impact of the COVID-19 shut-downs

 Budget timetable and process

2
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BUDGET OUTLOOK  FOLLOWING ELECTION

 Measure I would have allowed refinancing of debt for construction of the SMART 
system

 Average reduction of $12 million  per year in debt service cannot be achieved

 Long-term stability will require expenditure reductions of $9 million as shown 
during the strategic planning process in 2019

3
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BUDGET OUTLOOK FOLLOWING ELECTION

4

 Budget problem identified in 2019,  IF NOTHING CHANGES:

 Original budget challenge to reduce expenditures, original estimates to address 
would have meant $3 million in reductions in EACH of the next three Fiscal Years

 Total of $9 million in reductions would have solved for future imbalance that would 
have eliminated reserves if nothing were done.
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REFINANCING AS COST SAVING STRATEGY

 Without Measure I and additional years to spread the construction debt, the 
significant $12 million per year reduction in debt service we had hoped to achieve 
cannot be realized.  

 Prior to 2020 we did not project significant benefits to refinancing within the 
existing bond term because rates were much higher.

 Decline in interest rates in recent weeks, potential for opportunities to refinance the 
outstanding Measure Q Sales Tax Revenue Bonds to generate some debt service 
savings does exist  

 In conjunction with SMART’s expert Municipal Advisor, PFM Financial Advisors LLC, 
we are monitoring the municipal bond market for an opportunity to lower our 
payments.

5
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REFINANCING AS COST SAVING STRATEGY

 Using rates that existed on April 3, a taxable advance refunding could generate between 
$1.1 and $2.5 million of annual cashflow savings through FY2029 depending on the 
structure, terms and other factors.   This is far below the $12 million Measure I sought to 
achieve.

 A number of things could affect that pricing, including the willingness of investors to 
participate, a change in rates or credit ratings, and continued economic uncertainty, 
along with the ability to call the bonds earlier than 2029. 

 We are evaluating two structures:
» A negotiated public offering
» A “private” or direct placement of debt

 Public Offering
» Longer process that might result in no savings to SMART due to the time involved, volatility in the 

market, credit process and other factor.  

 A Direct Placement 
» Approved by the Board
» Places debt directly with a financing entity
» Saves time, allowing us to capture potential savings before they disappear 

6
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MINIMUM RESERVES

 Currently benefitting from our reserves which allow us time to address the fiscal 
crises

 Reserve policies adopted by other entities are as follows:

 Minimum reserves should be large enough to weather a TYPICAL financial challenge, 
without putting too much capital aside that is needed for other operating challenges 

7

Agency Published  Reserve Policy
City of Santa Rosa 15-17% of Annual Expenditures
City of San Rafael 10% of Annual Expense
City of Novato 15% of Annual Expense
County of Sonoma 8.3% of Annual Revenues (One Month)
County of Marin 5% of Annual Expense
Golden Gate BH&TD 7.5% Annual Operations, 3.5% Emergency
SF MTA (Muni) 10% Annual Operating Expenses
Utah Transit 9.33% of Annual Expense  
Trimet, Portland 2.5 Months Operating Expense (21%)
VTA (Santa Clara) 15% of Expense, Sales Tax stabilization fund $35 M (10%)

Page 102 of 120



MINIMUM RESERVES

 SMART’s challenge is to recognize the significant role that sales tax plays in funding 
our budget. 

 We recommend a minimum reserve policy that preserves $10 million as your 
minimum for Fiscal Year 2021 and beyond.  

 This calculation is 25% of our Fiscal Year 2020 ongoing operations expenditures 
(excluding capital project and debt costs).   This is higher than most entities carry  
but necessary given the uncertainty we continue to face

 $10 million should be a minimum dollar amount despite our plans to reduce 
expenditures in the coming months

 Further, we recommend that your Board adopt a policy that states the use of 
SMART’s reserve should require a 2/3 vote so that the use of the funds is preserved

8
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NEW BUDGET CHALLENGE: COVID-19

 The COVID-19 shelter-in-place order presents a giant new challenge
» Loss of Fare revenue immediate $90,000
» Staff vacancies, new leave mandates (unfunded)
» Unknown but significant sales tax revenue impacts 

 Challenge of anticipating sales tax impact when receipts lag 2-4 months behind 
transactions

 Further challenge of anticipating impacts of Governor’s order allowing businesses 
90-day extensions, and, in some cases, up to 1 year to submit their tax receipts
» Small businesses (with taxable sales of $5 million or less) can defer remittance of their 

sales and use taxes for up to one year to July 2021. 
» Approximately 360,000 filers will be eligible for deferral of up to $50,000  in what is 

essentially an interest-free loan from state and local agencies.  

9
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NEW BUDGET CHALLENGE

 Our initial projection:  

» Loss of 20% sales tax related revenue in 
Fiscal Year 2019-20 which ends in June.  

» Loss of 30% in budgeted fare revenue for 
Fiscal Year 2019-20.  

 Total losses of $11 million in Fiscal Year 
2019-20 as shown in red

10

FISCAL YEAR 2019-20 IMPACTS OF SHELTER-IN-PLACE
Measure Q - Sales Tax 

Original 39,312,541.0$                
Revised  31,450,033                      

(loss) (7,862,508)                      
State Rail/Transit Funding

Original State 7,786,239                        
Revised  State 6,228,991                        

(loss) (1,557,248)                      
Fare Revenue

Original 4,137,000                        
Revised  2,482,200                        

(loss) (1,654,800)                      

Total Loss (Projection) (11,074,556)$                  
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“CARES” ACT RELIEF

Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act

 CARES Act provided $25 billion to public transportation systems 

 $1.3 Billion to the Bay Area

 Funds have been allocated for the specific use of maintaining transit staff and a 
reasonable level of service by backfilling for both the loss of revenues and the 
reimbursement for expenses as a direct result of COVID-19.

 27 Bay Area General Managers and Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) 
Executive staff have been negotiating since Congress settled on an amount

 Subject to MTC approval on April 22 and then Federal Transit Agency (FTA) grant 
approval 

 SMART’s initial allocation is estimated to be $10 million

 May be additional funds forthcoming in the coming months as only 60% of the 
funds are being proposed to be allocated at this time.  

11
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“CARES” ACT RELIEF

Initial $10 million grant will partially address our estimated Fiscal Year 2019-20 loss.

However, impacts to SMART likely to continue--

 Rosy scenario:
» Short-lived impact with quick revenue recovery
» Unlikely given the broad economic shock we are experiencing

 More likely scenario:  
» Could take a year or more for sales tax to return to pre-COVID-19 levels.  

 In the likely scenario:  Preparing for second impact of an $11-14 million loss in Fiscal 
Year 2020-21 beginning July 1.  

 A second negotiation with the Bay Area transit operators over remaining CARES Act 
allocations would assist with this impact

 Recovery likely to take much longer and impacts could be much higher.

12
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BUDGET COMPOSITION

Budget Composed of Three Different Parts:  Capital+Administration+Operations

13
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CAPITAL BUDGET

 FY 2019-20 current budget of $51 million

 Almost entirely grant funded, one time in nature

 Reductions will not significantly impact operating imbalance

Page 109 of 120



ADMINISTRATION  EXPENSES FY 2019-20
$29 MILLION

15
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OPERATIONS EXPENSES FY 2019-20
$32 MILLION

16
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NEW BUDGET CHALLENGE

First Challenge: Measure I failure eliminating significant debt service relief

Second Challenge: Predicting and absorbing sales tax losses until the economy 
recovers 

 Originally planned to close the Fiscal Year with significant reserves, which allow us 
some cushion but will be quickly depleted without significant revenue and 
expenditure changes.

 Prior target of $3 million for Fiscal Year 2021 now increased

 Now looking for targeted reductions of up to $6 million

 $6 million chosen as an aggressive but potentially achievable amount in the coming 
year

 The sooner we can find reductions and implement them, the quicker we will be able 
to address both the immediate revenue crises and long-term structural problem.

17
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NEW BUDGET CHALLENGE

 Three major strategies for budget reduction proposals for FY 2020-21. 
» One-time savings
» Reduction in Ongoing Expense, Salary and Non-salary
» Reduction in Ongoing Expense Due to Reductions in Service

1.  One-time savings
Expenditure reductions for planned items that will now be deferred, such as:   
» Deferral of machinery and equipment
» Extended replacement cycles for vehicles
» Deferral of mitigation measures and enhancements
» Deferral of non-safety capital projects and matching funds

18
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NEW BUDGET CHALLENGE

2:  Reduction in Ongoing Expense, Salary and Non-salary:  

Important but could be considered for reductions without a direct impact on the 
SMART train schedule. Items such as:   

» Train WiFi service
» Information Technology upgrades and servicing
» Customer service contract with Golden Gate Bridge District
» Debt refinancing
» Federal and state advocacy services
» Communications/outreach contracts and activities
» North County bus service
» Elimination of non-critical vacant positions
» Discussing with our unions various means of reducing labor costs, including a 

possible wage reopener for the current July 1 increases. 

19
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NEW BUDGET CHALLENGE

3:  Reduction in Ongoing Expense Due to Reductions in Service:  Such as
» Running fewer trains 

Fewer trains would mean a decrease full-time staff and related expenses
Fewer trains would mean reductions in fuel, materials, other services

» There is a potential for  loss in either direct fare revenue or related revenue from State 
and Federal sources and the savings would be reduced by these losses. 

» Could impact our ability to compete for service expansion grants depending on the 
severity of the cuts.  

20
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NEW BUDGET CHALLENGE

 There will be significant impacts to our riders of reductions that could reach $9 
million or more over time. 

 There is no way to cushion the impact of such a change from our everyday 
operations functions.  There is no other place to look for reductions. 

 Length of time of the economic downturn will impact decision making.

 A larger, more long-lasting economic downturn would mean that this initial $6 
million target could be followed by a new effort to reduce expenses shortly 
thereafter rather than waiting for the next budget cycle.   

21
Page 116 of 120



NEXT STEPS

 April 15: Briefing on targets and reduction categories

 April 21:  Citizens Oversight Committee discussion of budget and refinancing

 May 6:  Update on budget process and any follow-up from April

 May 20: Preliminary Budget Presentation and Discussion

 June 3:  First opportunity for Board Approval of FY 20-21 Budget

 June 17:  Final opportunity for Board Approval of FY 20-21 Budget
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         AGENDA ITEM #5 

 
5401 Old Redwood Hwy., Suite 200  Page 1 of 1 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Tel:  707.794.3330/Fax: 707.794.3037 

 
 

 
 

DATE: April 21, 2020 
 
TO: Citizens Oversight Committee Members 
 
FROM:   Erin McGrath, Chief Financial Officer 
  
SUBJECT: Input on Measure I 
 
 

  
  
 

Attached is the following report: 
 

1. Reporting on Measure I – Presented to SMART Board of Directors on 
April 15, 2020 
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Eric Lucan, Chair 
Transportation Authority of Marin 
 
Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 
 
 
Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors  
 
Damon Connolly 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 
 
Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 
 
Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 
 
Joe Naujokas 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Gary Phillips 
Transportation Authority of Marin 
 
David Rabbitt 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
 
Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 
 
Shirlee Zane 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
 

 

 

Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 

 

 
5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.sonomamarintrain.org 

 

AGENDA ITEM 8 

April 15, 2020 
 
 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
 
SUBJECT:   Reporting on Measure I 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:   
a) At this meeting, take public comments on the election outcome or 

what we can do to improve our chances at future success. 
b) Over the next several months, invite stakeholders such as business, 

environmental, civic and service organizations to attend a number of 
our Board meetings and seek their input for lessons learned and how 
to become more successful the next time.   

c) Utilize the Citizens Oversight Committee and ask them to reach out to 
other stakeholders as well and seek their input and ideas.  

d) Direct the staff to develop public outreach and communication 
strategies to share the results of these findings and future 
implementation plans.  

 
SUMMARY:  
The official election results of March 3, 2020 indicate that while a majority 
of voters in both counties (Marin 55% & Sonoma 52%) did support the 
extension of the current ¼ of one cent for 30 years, we were not successful 
in achieving the required 2/3 approval. 
 
It is clear that we have work to do so we can convince the voters on why 
they should support our next sales tax election. We must address the 
issues that we heard and will hear about on how to do a better job in 
letting our voters know about the need for an extension. We will always 
have opposition and we will always have economic or situations beyond 
our control (such as health, fire or flood emergencies) that can impact our 
service or revenues. 
 
In the year leading up to the election, SMART’s dedicated staff and 
management were focused on providing train service and managing an 
organization that never closes. We were just doing our job, delivering a 
train service that people wanted. 
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SMART Board of Directors 
April 15, 2020 

Page 2 of 2 

 
Our decision for placing this measure started with the staff’s preparation of a unique document that 
not every public agency prepare, known as our Financial Strategic Plan. This plan that is completed 
every 5 years, takes a look at ours financing in the next 10 years. It was this work with the tremendous 
assistance from our Citizens Oversight Committee (comprised of 7 members of the public appointed 
by your Board to oversee this process) that we reported in a number of public meetings that unless 
we reduce our expenses, we will exhaust our reserve that we have built.  It was during these many 
public deliberations that we, together, identified that the refinancing of our current debt would be 
the single most important financial step we can take. 
 
When we made this decision in the Fall of 2019, it appeared to be an opportune time to pass our 
measure.  Why?  
 
The competitive Democratic primary was expected to boost turnout, the economy was very strong, 
the stock market was exceeding all expectations and predictions, unemployment was at its lowest in 
Marin and Sonoma, we were expecting to open up Larkspur and downtown Novato stations shortly, 
and Windsor extension construction would commence early next year. 
 
All of these indicators pointed to a strong and prudent decision by your Board to go ahead with the 
placement of the Extension of the current sales tax measure. 
 
It turns out that other agencies were seeking the same opportunity. According to various analysis, 
there were 237 statewide tax measures on the March 3, 2020 election.  According to these reports, 
only 58 were approved. (I note that these statistics might have changed but not updated). 
 
Here are the facts that we are dealing with: 

▪ We leveraged about $300M of local sales and brought in another $323M in outside grants 
and delivered a $600M project, world class train system that is in its infancy and undoubtedly 
will grow. 

▪ We will continue to be sales tax based in the future. Taxes support every other transit system 
in the United States and every other public infrastructure (roads, highways, bridges); none of 
us can continue without some form of tax subsidy.  

▪ We will need to return to the voters to ensure the train service continues in the future. 
 

NEXT STEPS:  
▪ Over the next several months (after the shelter-in-place is lifted), place workshop style 

agenda items on our board meetings and invite stakeholders such as business, environmental, 
civic and service organizations and seek their input for lessons learned a ideas about path 
forward. 

▪ We should utilize our Citizens Oversight Committee and asked them to reach out to other 
stakeholders as well and seek their input and ideas.  

▪ We will develop public outreach and communication strategies to share the results of these 
findings and future implementation plans.  

 
Very truly yours, 
 
  /s/ 
Farhad Mansourian 
General Manager 
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